
  

 

James Ellis 

Head of Legal and Democratic Services  
 

 
This agenda has been printed using 100% recycled paper 

 
 

 

 

 

MEETING : DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 

VENUE : COUNCIL CHAMBER, WALLFIELDS, HERTFORD 

DATE : WEDNESDAY 7 FEBRUARY 2024 

TIME : 7.00 PM 

 

PLEASE NOTE TIME AND VENUE 

This meeting will be live streamed on the Council’s You Tube page: 

https://www.youtube.com/user/EastHertsDistrict  

 

MEMBERS OF THE COMMITTEE 

Councillor Y Estop (Chairman) 

Councillors R Buckmaster, V Burt, R Carter, S Copley, I Devonshire, 

J Dunlop, G Hill, A Holt, S Marlow, T Stowe and S Watson 

(Vice-Chairman) 

 

Substitutes 

 

(Note:  Substitution arrangements must be notified by the absent Member 

to the Committee Chairman or the Executive Member for Planning and 

Growth, who, in turn, will notify the Committee service at least 7 hours 

before commencement of the meeting.) 

 

CONTACT OFFICER: PETER MANNINGS 

01279 502174 

peter.mannings@eastherts.gov.uk 

Conservative Group: Councillors S Bull and T Deffley  

Green: Councillors M Connolly and V Smith 

Liberal Democrat: Councillor M Adams 

Public Document Pack

https://www.youtube.com/user/EastHertsDistrict
mailto:peter.mannings@eastherts.gov.uk


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Public Attendance 

 

East Herts Council welcomes public attendance at its meetings and 

meetings will continue to be live streamed and 

webcasted. For further information, please email 

democraticservices@eastherts.gov.uk or call the Council on 01279 

655261 and ask to speak to Democratic Services.  
 

The Council operates a paperless policy in respect of agendas at 

committee meetings and the Council will no longer be providing 

spare copies of Agendas for the Public at Committee Meetings.  The 

mod.gov app is available to download for free from app stores for 

electronic devices. You can use the mod.gov app to access, annotate 

and keep all committee paperwork on your mobile device. 

Visit https://www.eastherts.gov.uk/article/35542/Political- 

Structure for details. 
 

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests  

 

A Member, present at a meeting of the Authority, or any committee, 

sub-committee, joint committee or joint sub-committee of the 

Authority, with a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest (DPI) in any matter to 

be considered or being considered at a meeting: 

 

• must not participate in any discussion of the matter at the 

meeting; 

• must not participate in any vote taken on the matter at the 

meeting; 

• must disclose the interest to the meeting, whether registered 

or not, subject to the provisions of section 32 of the Localism 

Act 2011;  

• if the interest is not registered and is not the subject of a 

pending notification, must notify the Monitoring Officer of the 

interest within 28 days; 

• must leave the room while any discussion or voting takes 

place. 
 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Audio/Visual Recording of meetings 

 

Everyone is welcome to record meetings of the Council and its 

Committees using whatever, non-disruptive, methods you think are 

suitable, which may include social media of any kind, such as 

tweeting, blogging or Facebook.  However, oral reporting or 

commentary is prohibited.  If you have any questions about this 

please contact Democratic Services (members of the press should 

contact the Press Office).  Please note that the Chairman of the 

meeting has the discretion to halt any recording for a number of 

reasons, including disruption caused by the filming or the nature of 

the business being conducted.  Anyone filming a meeting should 

focus only on those actively participating and be sensitive to the 

rights of minors, vulnerable adults and those members of the public 

who have not consented to being filmed.   

 



 

 

AGENDA 

 

1. Apologies  

 

 To receive apologies for absence. 

 

2. Chairman's Announcements  

 

3. Declarations of Interest  

 

 To receive any Members' declarations of interest. 

 

4. Minutes - 10 January 2024 (Pages 6 - 19) 

 

 To confirm the Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 

Wednesday 10 January 2024. 

 

5. Planning Applications for Consideration by the Committee 

(Pages 20 - 23) 

 

(A) 3/19/1237/FUL- Residential development for 50 dwellings 

comprising of one to four bedroom dwellings, including affordable 

homes, surface water balancing facility, access roads and 

footpaths and associated landscaping at Land between Hazel End 

Road and Farnham Road, North of (and Accessed From) Morbury 

Avenue, Bishop's Stortford, Hertfordshire, CM23 1JJ (Pages 24 - 59) 

 

6. Items for Reporting and Noting (Pages 60 - 99) 

 

 (A) Appeals against refusal of Planning Permission/ non-determination; 

 

(B) Planning Appeals Lodged; 

 

(C) Planning Appeals: Inquiry and Informal Hearing Dates: and 



 

 

 

(D) Planning Statistics. 

 

7. Urgent Business  

 

 To consider such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman 

of the meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration 

and is not likely to involve the disclosure of exempt information. 

 

 



DM  DM 
 
 

 

 

  MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE 

DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT 

COMMITTEE HELD IN THE COUNCIL 

CHAMBER, WALLFIELDS, HERTFORD ON 

WEDNESDAY 10 JANUARY 2024, AT 7.00 PM 

   

 PRESENT: Councillor Y Estop (Chairman) 

  Councillors R Buckmaster, V Burt, R Carter, 

S Copley, I Devonshire, J Dunlop, G Hill, 

A Holt, S Marlow, T Stowe and S Watson 

   

 ALSO PRESENT:  

 

  Councillors E Buckmaster and B Crystall 

   

 OFFICERS IN ATTENDANCE: 

 

  Neil Button - Team Leader 

(Strategic 

Applications - 

Development 

Management) 

  Karren Fossett - Service Manager 

(Development 

Management) 

  Rani Ghattoura - Planning Lawyer 

  Peter Mannings - Democratic 

Services Officer 

  Kay Mead - Principal Planning 

Officer 

  Ellen Neumann - Planning Officer 

  Elizabeth Oswick - Trainee Planning 

Assistant 

  Nick Reed - Planning Officer 

Page 6

Agenda Item 4



DM  DM 
 
 

 

 

  Sara Saunders - Head of Planning 

and Building 

Control 

  Diane Verona - Principal Planning 

Officer 

  Victoria Wilders - Legal Services 

Manager 

 

274   APOLOGIES  

 

 

 Apologies for absence were submitted from Councillor 

A Holt. It was noted that Councillor S Bull was 

substituting for Councillor A Holt. 
 

 

275   CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  

 

 

 There were no Chairman’s announcements. 
 

 

276   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 

 

 There were no declarations of interest. 
 

 

277   MINUTES - 6 DECEMBER 2023  

 

 

 Councillor Buckmaster proposed and Councillor 

Devonshire seconded, a motion that the Minutes of 

the meeting held on 6 December 2023 be confirmed as 

a correct record and signed by the Chairman. 

 

After being put to the meeting and a vote taken, the 

motion was declared CARRIED. 

 

 

Page 7



DM  DM 
 
 

 

 

RESOLVED – that the Minutes of the meeting 

held on 6 December 2023, be confirmed as a 

correct record and signed by the Chairman. 

 

278   3/22/2067/FUL - RETROSPECTIVE APPROVAL TO CHANGE A 

TEMPORARY VEHICLE ACCESS BRIDGE TO A PERMANENT 

ACCESS BRIDGE AT NEW GRANGE PADDOCKS LEISURE 

CENTRE. RYE STREET, BISHOP'S STORTFORD, 

HERTFORDSHIRE, CM23 2HH   

 

 

 The Head of Planning and Building Control 

recommended that in respect of application 

3/22/2067/FUL, planning permission be granted 

subject to the conditions set out at the end of the 

report. 

 

The Planning Officer summarised the main 

considerations pertinent to the application and 

presented a series of slides and visuals in respect of 

the proposed development. He said that the 

temporary vehicle access bridge was a replacement for 

a timber bridge that had been removed. 

 

The Planning Officer said that access to the site was 

constrained by River Stort and the railway line. He 

summarised the appearance of the bridge and said 

that there was a neutral impact in visual terms. 

 

The Planning Officer detailed the key policy 

considerations and said that the nearest residential 

property was 20 metres away. Members were advised 

that a concern had been expressed in respect of noise 

from cyclists using the footbridge. The Planning Officer 

 

Page 8



DM  DM 
 
 

 

 

stated that Officers considered that neighbour amenity 

would not be affected. 

 

The Planning Officer talked about the flood risk 

assessments and the sequential test. Members were 

advised that there would be a minor loss of car parking 

spaces and no loss of riverbank. The Planning Officer 

said that the application was policy compliant and 

there would be compensatory parking and landscaping 

to compensate for the loss of hedging. 

 

Councillor Stowe expressed a concern regarding the 

noise of the bridge surface and asked what could be 

done to mitigate the noise of the footway. Councillor 

Copley commented on the possibility of a rubber 

matting to mitigate the noise. She also commented on 

the signage and said that this was often ignored by 

users of the bridge. 

 

The Planning Officer said that some sort of noise 

absorbent surface would be a possibility. He reminded 

Members that the existing surface did allow drainage 

and there would have to be some kind of compromise 

in that respect. 

 

Councillor Copley explained that the signage and the 

road markings were incorrect, and the signage was 

directing pedestrians over the roadway. The Planning 

Officer explained that this was private land, and this 

would not be a matter for the highway authority. It 

would however be within the gift of the council to look 

into updating the road markings. 

 

Page 9



DM  DM 
 
 

 

 

Councillor Watson said that the roadway section of the 

bridge was not particular friendly for cyclists. The 

Planning Officer confirmed that there was signage 

asking cyclists to dismount and proceed on foot. He 

said that there was no designated separate route for 

cyclists. 

 

Councillor Devonshire said that the arrows directing 

the users of the bridge did need to be clarified as the 

instructions were confusing on both sides of the 

bridge. Councillor Estop said that the area between the 

bridges had the potential to be unsightly. She asked if 

this issue could be addressed via the landscaping 

condition. 

 

The Planning Officer explained that there was a small 

of riverbank being retained and this could be used for 

planting and replacement hedging. The Chairman 

suggested that condition 2 be modified to include hard 

and soft landscaping to pick up the matter of the 

surface of the footbridge and address the issue of 

noise and also cover the opportunity of new planting. 

 

Councillor Estop asked about the possibility of an 

informative that the applicant should review all the 

road markings and the signage to ensure that this was 

correct and sightly. 

 

Councillor Buckmaster proposed and Councillor Stowe 

seconded, a motion that application 3/22/2067/FUL be 

granted planning permission, subject to the conditions 

set out at the end of the report and subject to an 

amended condition 2 in respect of hard and soft 

Page 10



DM  DM 
 
 

 

 

landscaping and an informative regarding the road 

markings and signage. 

 

After being put to the meeting and a vote taken, the 

motion was declared CARRIED. 

 

RESOLVED – that application 3/22/2067/FUL be 

granted planning permission, subject to the 

conditions set out at the end of the report and 

subject to an amended condition 2 in respect of 

hard and soft landscaping and an informative 

regarding the road markings and signage. 

 

279   3/21/2509/FUL - CHANGE OF USE OF THE LAND FOR 2 

GYPSY AND TRAVELLER RESIDENTIAL PITCHES, 

ACCOMMODATING THE SITING OF 2 MOBILE HOMES, 4 

TOURING CARAVANS AND 2 DAYROOM/AMENITY 

BUILDINGS, ALONGSIDE THE FORMATION OF AN ACCESS 

ROAD, AREAS OF HARDSTANDING, PROVISION FOR FOUL 

WATER DRAINAGE AND WIDENED SITE ENTRANCE ONTO 

CHERRY GREEN LANE AT LAND AT CHERRY GREEN LANE, 

WESTMILL, HERTFORDSHIRE, SG9 9LF   

 

 

 The Chairman advised that at 2:20 pm this afternoon, 

Democratic Services had received an email from Councillor 

Jeff Jones (Hertfordshire County Council member for 

Buntingford division) in relation to addressing the 

committee regarding application 3/21/2509/FUL. 

 

As per the Council constitution, paragraph 6.4.2 sets out 

that all speaking requests must be made by 5pm two 

working days prior to the meeting. 

 

 

Page 11



DM  DM 
 
 

 

 

Then Chairman said that under the constitution, the 

committee can depart as it sees fit from the speaking 

arrangements on certain applications, in accordance 

with paragraph 6.4.5 of the constitution. The 

committee could agree to depart from the speaking 

arrangements and would need to vote on this. 

 

Councillor Estop proposed and Councillor Hill 

seconded, a motion that in accordance with paragraph 

6.4.5 in Section 6 – Regulatory Committees of the 

constitution, the committee agree to depart from the 

speaking arrangements of the Development 

Management Committee, to allow Hertfordshire 

County Councillor Jeff Jones (Buntingford division) to 

address the committee for 3 minutes in respect of 

application 3/21/2509/FUL. 

 

After being put to the meeting and a vote taken, the 

motion was declared CARRIED. 

 

RESOLVED – that in accordance with paragraph 

6.4.5 in Section 6 – Regulatory Committees of 

the constitution, the committee agree to depart 

from the speaking arrangements of the 

Development Management Committee, to allow 

Hertfordshire County Councillor Jeff Jones 

(Buntingford division) to address the committee 

for 3 minutes in respect of application 

3/21/2509/FUL. 

 

The Head of Planning and Building Control 

recommended that in respect of application 

3/21/2509/FUL, planning permission be granted 

Page 12



DM  DM 
 
 

 

 

subject to the conditions set out at the end of the 

report. 

 

The Principal Planning Officer summarised the 

application and set out the policy context with a 

particular reference to the planning policies regarding 

Gypsy and Traveller sites. She referred to the National 

Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the Planning 

Policy for Traveller Sites (PPTS). 

 

The Principal Planning Officer detailed the consultee 

responses and referred to the comments of 

Hertfordshire Highways. She detailed the relevant 

planning history and talked about water supply, the 

treatment of waste, biodiversity and drainage. 

Members were presented with a series of photos, 

plans and elevation drawings. 

 

Mr Andreou addressed the committee in respect of his 

concerns regarding the application. Councillor Anne 

Downes (Westmill Parish Council) and Councillor Jeff 

Jones (Hertfordshire County Council) also addressed 

the committee. 

 

Following a question from Councillor Estop, the 

Principal Planning Officer set out in detail the 

operation of the Herts Lynx Bus Service. Councillor 

Copley asked about the other considerations in terms 

of what would make this site sustainable for Gypsy and 

Traveller pitches. 

 

The Team Leader (Strategic Applications) said that the 

first consideration was the hierarchy of villages. He 

said that there was a degree of accessibility to the 

Page 13



DM  DM 
 
 

 

 

limited services in the group 2 village of Westmill. He 

referred to the site as being 100 to 200 metres away 

from the village and the site was considered to be 

sustainable in that regard. Members were referred to 

relevant appeal case law and were advised that the site 

could reasonably be as sustainable as the whole of 

Westmill. 

 

In response to an enquiry from Councillor Stowe 

regarding a point made by Councillor Anne Downes, 

the Head of Planning and Building Control said that the 

council had been contact with the Chairs of the parish 

council from September 2021 onwards on a regular 

basis initially and less frequently as time has gone on. 

She said that she had met with both Chairmen and 

there had been telephone and email correspondence. 

 

Members were advised that that whilst emails were 

not always responded to, the points were picked up in 

meetings. The Head of Planning and Building Control 

said that the council would not look to stonewall 

anybody and would engage where it could. She said 

that Officers had always sought to provide updates 

where they could. 

 

Councillor Buckmaster asked about the impact of the 

application on the local school bus service and on 

school places. The Team Leader (Strategic Applications) 

said that the site was close to Buntingford, and it was 

not anticipated that there would be a significant 

additional burden on education facilities or the local 

school bus service. 

 

Page 14



DM  DM 
 
 

 

 

Following a number of comments from Councillor Bull, 

the Team Leader (Strategic Applications) said 

sometimes applications were lacking in crucial 

information and the timeline required to secure 

information did occasionally prevent applications 

being determined in a timely manner. He set out in 

detail the timeline and full history of the application 

prior to the scheme being reported to Members this 

evening. Members were reminded of the care that had 

to be taken when considering what extra material to 

consider on a part retrospective application. Members 

were also advised that the application had been held 

up pending the receipt of various consultee responses. 

 

Councillor Copley asked what weighting should be 

given to this scheme being a part retrospective 

application and she asked what conditions if any could 

be applied help in terms of fostering good relations 

between the various parties. 

 

The Team Leader (Strategic Applications) said that 

Officers had carefully considered all of the District Plan 

polices and in particular policies HOU9 and HOU10 

regarding the suitability of the site for gypsy and 

traveller development. He referred to the Gypsies, 

Travellers and Travelling Show people (PPTS) national 

guidance and the lack of a 5-year supply of pitches and 

the unmet need. Officers had also had some regard to 

the intentional unauthorised development on the site 

and the welfare of children. 

 

Members were advised that the policy considerations 

had been complied with to a large extent and Officers 

had given due regard to the limited weight that could 

Page 15



DM  DM 
 
 

 

 

be given in the overall balance to the intentional 

unauthorised development. The application was 

broadly considered to be acceptable in the context of 

the District Plan. 

 

Councillor Devonshire asked for some guidance in 

respect of policy GBR2 and the fact that this site was 

outside the Westmill village boundary. The Team 

Leader (Strategic Applications) said that policies GBR2 

and policies HOU9 and HOU10 did allow some 

development outside of the village boundary. 

 

Councillor Carter asked for some clarity in respect of 

flash flooding and SUDS drainage and the 

hardstanding. The Principal Planning Officer referred 

to paragraph of the report and said that extra detail in 

respect of drainage would be secured by condition. 

 

In reply to a query from Councillor Dunlop regarding 

the unauthorised development, the Legal Services 

Manager explained that the injunction maintained the 

status quo and prevented further unauthorised 

development on the site. 

 

Members were advised that a committal for removal of 

the unauthorised development was not sought as the 

council could not say to the court that there was no 

prospect of planning permission being approved on 

the site. The site had remained in a state of limbo as 

the council could not enforce or remove the 

unauthorised development as the council could not 

say that there were no planning reasons why 

permission might not be granted. 

 

Page 16



DM  DM 
 
 

 

 

The Principal Planning Officer responded to a question 

from Councillor Watson regarding the GTANA needs 

assessment in respect of the Gypsy and Traveller 

pitches. 

 

Councillor Watson proposed and Councillor Hill 

seconded, a motion that application 3/21/2509/FUL be 

granted planning permission, subject to the conditions 

set out at the end of the report and subject to the 

following amendments to conditions: 

 

Conditions 13 and 14 become conditions 1 and 2 and 

condition 14 (condition 2) be amended to include 

details of both hard and soft landscaping. 

 

After being put to the meeting and a vote taken, the 

motion was declared CARRIED. 

 

RESOLVED – that application 3/21/2509/FUL be 

granted planning permission, subject to the 

conditions set out at the end of the report and 

subject to the following amendments to 

conditions: 

 

Conditions 13 and 14 become conditions 1 and 

2 and condition 14 (condition 2) be amended to 

include details of both hard and soft 

landscaping. 

 

280   ITEMS FOR REPORTING AND NOTING  

 

 

 RESOLVED – that the following reports be noted: 

 

 

Page 17



DM  DM 
 
 

 

 

(A) Appeals against refusal of planning 

permission / non-determination; 

 

(B) Planning Appeals lodged; 

 

(C) Planning Appeals: Inquiry and Informal 

Hearing Dates; and 

 

(D) Planning Statistics. 

 

281   URGENT BUSINESS  

 

 

 Councillor Devonshire referred to the yarn bomb 

above the fishmongers in Hertford and charitable 

donations and the promotion of this business. He 

referred in particular to the unfortunate media 

coverage in respect of enforcement action. 

 

The Head of Planning and Building Control explained 

that normal procedure had been followed in respect of 

enforcement action following a registered 

enforcement complaint.  

 

There was no urgent business. 

 

 

The meeting closed at 8.44 pm 

 

 

Chairman ............................................................ 

 

Date  ............................................................ 

 

 

 

Page 18



DM  DM 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 19



 

 

  

East Herts Council Report  
 

Development Management Committee 

 

Date of Meeting:  07 February 2024 

 

Report by:   Sara Saunders, Head of Planning and Building 

    Control 

 

Report title:  Planning Applications for Consideration by the 

    Committee 

 

Ward(s) affected: All 
       

 

Summary 
 

• This report is to enable planning and related applications and 

unauthorised development matters to be considered and 

determined by the Committee, as appropriate, or as set out for 

each agenda item. 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT 

COMMITTEE:  

 

A recommendation is detailed separately for each application 

and determined by the Committee, as appropriate, or as set out 

for each agenda item. 
 

1.0 Proposal(s) 

 

1.1 The proposals are set out in detail in the individual reports. 

 

2.0 Background 
 

2.1 The background in relation to each planning application and 

enforcement matter included in this agenda is set out in the 

Page 20

Agenda Item 5



 

 

  

individual reports. 

 

3.0  Reason(s) 
 

3.1 No. 

 

4.0  Options 
 

4.1 As detailed separately in relation to each matter if any are 

appropriate. 

 

5.0  Risks 
 

5.1 As detailed separately in relation to each matter if any are 

appropriate. 

 

6.0  Implications/Consultations 
 

6.1 As detailed separately in relation to each matter if any are 

appropriate. 

 

Community Safety 

As detailed separately in relation to each matter if any are 

appropriate. 

 

Data Protection 

As detailed separately in relation to each matter if any are 

appropriate. 

 

Equalities 

As detailed separately in relation to each matter if any are 

appropriate. 

 

Environmental Sustainability 

As detailed separately in relation to each matter if any are 

appropriate. 
 

Page 21



 

 

  

Financial 

As detailed separately in relation to each matter if any are 

appropriate. 

 

Health and Safety 

As detailed separately in relation to each matter if any are 

appropriate. 

 

Human Resources 

As detailed separately in relation to each matter if any are 

appropriate. 

 

Human Rights 

As detailed separately in relation to each matter if any are 

appropriate. 

 

Legal 

As detailed separately in relation to each matter if any are 

appropriate. 

 

Specific Wards 

As detailed separately in relation to each matter if any are 

appropriate. 

 

7.0  Background papers, appendices and other relevant 

material 
 

7.1  The papers which comprise each application/ unauthorised 

development file.  In addition, the East of England Plan, 

Hertfordshire County Council’s Minerals and Waste 

documents, the East Hertfordshire Local Plan and, where 

appropriate, the saved policies from the Hertfordshire County 

Structure Plan,  comprise background papers where the 

provisions of the Development Plan are material planning 

issues. 

 

 

Page 22



 

 

  

7.2 Display of Plans  

 

7.3 Plans for consideration at this meeting are available online.  An 

Officer will be present from 6.30 pm to advise on any plans relating 

to schemes on strategic sites.  A selection of plans will be displayed 

electronically at the meeting.  Members are reminded that those 

displayed do not constitute the full range of plans submitted for 

each matter and they should ensure they view the full range of 

plans online prior to the meeting. 

 

7.4 All of the plans and associated documents on any of the planning 

applications included in the agenda can be viewed at: 

https://publicaccess.eastherts.gov.uk/online-applications/ 

 

Contact Member Councillor Vicky Glover-Ward, Executive 

Member for Planning and Growth 

vicky.glover-ward@eastherts.gov.uk 
 

Contact Officer   Sara Saunders, Head of Planning and Building 

Control, Tel: 01992 531656 

  sara.saunders@eastherts.gov.uk  

 

Report Author  Peter Mannings, Democratic Services Officer, 

    Tel: 01279 502174 

 peter.mannings@eastherts.gov.uk 

Page 23

https://publicaccess.eastherts.gov.uk/online-applications/
mailto:jan.goodeve@eastherts.gov.uk
mailto:sara.saunders@eastherts.gov.uk
mailto:peter.mannings@eastherts.gov.uk


DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE – 7 FEBRUARY 2024 

 

Application 

Number 

3/19/1237/FUL 

Proposal Residential development for 50 dwellings comprising of 

one-to-four-bedroom dwellings, including affordable 

homes, surface water balancing facility, access roads and 

footpaths and associated landscaping 

Location Land between Hazel End Road and Farnham Road, North 

of (and Accessed From) Morbury Avenue, Bishop’s 

Stortford, Hertfordshire, CM23 1JJ 

Applicant Countryside Properties and Hertfordshire County Council 

Parish Bishop’s Stortford Town Council 

Ward Bishop's Stortford North 

 

Date of Registration of 

Application 

11 June 2019 

Target Determination Date 10 September 2019 

Reason for Committee 

Report 

Major application 

Case Officer Jade Clifton-Brown 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

 

That planning permission be GRANTED subject to a legal agreement and 

the conditions set out at the end of this report. 

 

1.0 Summary 

 

1.1 Countryside Properties obtained outline planning permission in 

2016 for up to 329 dwellings and a site for a one-form entry primary 

school on an allocated housing site in Bishop’s Stortford (ASR 5) 

under application (3/13/0886/OP). The number of houses was 

uplifted to 479 under application reference 3/18/0652/OUT. Most of 

the approved development has been completed or is under 

construction (Phases A-D). This is called the ‘St Michaels Hurst’ 

development.  

 

1.2 The application site relates to Phase E which comprises a 1.2ha 

parcel of land which was identified in the original outline application 

as a reserve site for a one-form entry primary school at the request 
Page 24

Agenda Item 5a



3/19/1237/FUL:  

 

of Hertfordshire County Council (HCC), as the local education 

authority. 

 

1.3 On 4th December 2018, HCC served a notice on Countryside 

Properties that it would not require the primary school site as the 

education needs generated by the development would be provided 

elsewhere (on Farnham Road). This notice triggers clause 2.12 at 

Schedule 4 of the Section 106 agreement accompanying the outline 

permission. This clause requires Countryside Properties and HCC to 

jointly prepare and submit, within 6 months of the notice being 

served (i.e. 4th June 2019), a planning application for residential 

development on the school site. Should this planning permission be 

granted, Countryside Properties will instead pay HCC the market 

residential land value, which can be used towards the alternative 

development of school places. 

 

1.4 This application was submitted in 2019 but was put on hold whilst 

the wider development was progressed.  

 

1.5 The main issues to be assessed in the determination of this 

application are as follows: 

 

• Principle of Proposed Development 

• Design and Landscaping 

• Amenity 

• Parking and Highways 

• Sustainability 

• Ecology 

• Affordable Housing and Infrastructure Requirements 

 

2.0 Site Description 

 

2.1 The application site is located in the St Michael’s Hurst development 

which is an allocated housing site (ASR5) covering an area of 

approximately 25.4ha on the north-western edge of Bishop’s 

Stortford.  

 

2.2 The application site comprises 1.2ha in the northern section of the 

development. It is a vacant plot surrounded by newly built Page 25



3/19/1237/FUL:  

 

residential development to the east, south and west with the A120 

to the north.  

 

2.3 The wider area includes Bat Willow Country Park which was 

provided by the applicant as part of the wider development, and the 

Bishop’s Stortford North development to the west which has 

planning permission for 2,200 homes, secondary and primary 

schools, employment land and neighbourhood centres.  

 

3.0 Planning History  

 

Reference No. Proposal Decision Decision 

Date 

 

3/13/0886/OP Outline Planning Permission- 

‘Urban extension comprising 

329 new dwellings (of a range 

of sizes, types, and tenures, 

including affordable housing), 

including a site for a one--form 

entry primary school, and 

public open and amenity space, 

together with associated 

landscaping, access, highways 

(including footpaths and 

cycleways), parking, drainage, 

(including a foul water pumping 

station), utilities and service 

infrastructure works’ -  

Granted 01.06.2016 

3/16/1897/REM  Reserved matters relating to 

Phase A housing development 

for 69 dwellings and 22 

affordable units, to include 

access, landscaping and parking 

Granted 21.12.2016 

3/17/1716/REM  Reserved matters relating to 

Phase B housing development 

for 128 dwellings, including 

details of access, landscaping, 

parking provision and 33 

affordable units pursuant to 

Granted 19.12.2017 

Page 26



3/19/1237/FUL:  

 

Conditions 1, 2, 4 (a), (b), (c), (d), 

(e), (f), (g), (h), 5, 8, 10, 11, 12, 22 

and 24 of outline planning 

permission 3/13/0886/OP 

3/18/0652/OUT 

  

Uplift of dwellings- Outline 

planning for up to 260 Granted 

dwellings (of a range of sizes, 

types and tenures, including 

affordable housing) and a care 

home (Use Class C2) of up to 66 

beds together with public open 

and amenity space, associated 

landscaping,  

highways (including footpaths 

and cycleways), parking, 

drainage, utilities and service 

infrastructure works- all 

matters reserved 

Granted  21.10.2020 

3/20/0683/REM Reserved matters relating to 

Phase C housing development 

for 53 dwellings (incorporating 

20 affordable units), including 

details of access, appearance, 

landscaping, layout, and scale    

Granted 08.03.2021 

3/21/2339/REM Reserved matters application 

relating to Phase D housing 

development for 207 dwellings 

(incorporating 84 affordable 

units), and including details of 

access, appearance, 

landscaping, layout and scale, 

following grant of outline 

consent (3/18/0652/OUT) 

Granted 18.03.2022 

 

 

 

 

4.0 Key Policy Issues 

 Page 27



3/19/1237/FUL:  

 

4.1 The District Plan, together with the Minerals and Waste Local Plans 

for Hertfordshire and any adopted Neighbourhood Plans, form the 

Development Plan for the district. The relevant adopted 

Neighbourhood Plan is Bishop’s Stortford Town Council 

Neighbourhood Plan for Silverleys and Meads Wards.  

 

4.2 Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 

requires that decisions on planning applications should be made in 

accordance with the Development Plan unless there are material 

considerations which indicate otherwise.  

 

4.3 The Local Planning Authority must also have regard to the Public 

Sector Equality Duty under the Equality Act 2010.  

 

4.4 A number of other policy documents and guidance are relevant 

material considerations in the determination of the application 

including the National Planning Policy Framework, Planning Practice 

Guidance and Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD). The 

following adopted SPDs are relevant: Sustainability SPD, Vehicle 

Parking SPD, Planning Obligations SPD and Affordable Housing SPD. 

 

4.5 The Written Ministerial Statement published on 24 May 2021 is also 

relevant which sets out the minimum requirements a housing unit 

must meet to qualify as a First Home. 
 

4.6 The main policy issues and corresponding policies are set out 

below. 

  

Key Issue NPPF District Plan Policy  NP Policy 

Principle of 

Development 

Chapters 2, 

5 and 8 

INT1, DPS1, DPS2, 

HOU1, HOU2, HOU3, 

HOU7, BISH1, BISH3. 

HDP1 

 

Design and 

Landscaping 

Chapters 12 

15 

DES4, DES5, DES2, 

DES3 

HDP2  

HDP3  

GIP1  

GIP4 

Amenity Chapter 12 EQ2, EQ3, EQ4, DES4 HDP1 Page 28



3/19/1237/FUL:  

 

Highways and 

Parking 

Chapter 9 TRA1, TRA2, TRA3 TP1  

TP7  

TP8 

Sustainability Chapter 14 CC1, CC2, WAT1, WAT2, 

WAT3, WAT4, WAT5, 

WAT6 

CC1 

CC4 

Ecology  Chapter 15 NE2, NE3, NE4 GIP5 

Affordable Housing 

and Infrastructure  

Chapter 4 DPS4, HOU3, DEL1  

DEL2 

HDP4  

CI 

 

5.0 Summary of Consultee Responses 

 

5.1 EHDC Conservation and Urban Design - No objection subject to 

conditions. 

 

5.2 EHDC Landscape Officer - notes that the general landscape 

arrangement and Landscape Management Plan are suitable. 

 

5.3 EHDC Waste and Recycling – No objection.  

 

5.4 EHDC Section 106 Officer – seeks the following contributions 

towards allotments (£8,843), bowls (£12,043.00), burials (£1,050.00), 

community centre (£34,643), fitness gyms (£12,719.00), Castle Park 

(£49,288.00), outdoor tennis (£8,250.00), pedestrian and cycleway 

links (£82,101.50), recycling and refuse (£3,600.00), studio space (£5, 

254), swimming pool (£29, 267) and legal and monitoring costs. 

 

5.5 EHDC Environmental Health – No objection subject to conditions 

relating to contaminated land and remediation, noise, a 

Construction Environmental Management Plan, and electric vehicle 

charging points.  

 

5.6 EHDC Housing - No objection in relation to the number of 

affordable units or the tenure split. However, concerns have been 

raised in relation to the balance of affordable rent dwellings (with 

the majority proposed either as flats or 2 bed dwellings), the 

clustering of affordable dwellings, whether the 2 bed affordable 

dwellings can accommodate 4 people and whether the 3 bed 

dwellings can accommodate 5 people.  

 

Page 29



3/19/1237/FUL:  

 

5.7 HCC Highways - No objection subject to conditions relating to the 

proposed arrangements for the future management and 

maintenance of the streets, details of the materials of the hard 

surfaced areas, the submission of a Construction Management Plan, 

and the updating of the wider Residential Travel Plan. 

 

5.8 HCC Archaeology – advise that the development is unlikely to have a 

significant impact on heritage assets of archaeological interest. 

 

5.9 HCC Growth and Infrastructure – seek the following contributions 

towards primary education (£479, 225), secondary education (£582, 

292), childcare services (£454), special educational needs and 

disabilities (£63, 416), library services (£15, 376), youth service (£9, 

585), recycling centre (£1, 179), waste transfer station (£5, 271), fire 

and rescue service (£19, 030), sustainable transport (£318,600) and 

monitoring costs. 

 

5.10 HCC Minerals and Waste- No objection subject to a condition 

requiring a Site Waste Management Plan to minimise and divert 

waste from landfill. 

 

5.11 Lead Local Flood Authority – No objection subject to clarification in 

relation to drainage calculations and updated drainage drawings 

being submitted. 

 

5.12 Thames Water – No objection in relation to the impact of the 

proposal on foul water sewerage or surface water. 

 

5.13 Affinity Water – No objection but advise that the site is within a 

designated groundwater Source Protection Zone corresponding to 

North Stortford Pumping Station. This is a public water supply. The 

construction works and operation of the proposed development 

site should be carried out in accordance with the relevant British 

Standards and Best Management Practices, thereby significantly 

reducing the groundwater pollution risk. It should be noted that the 

construction works may exacerbate any existing pollution. If any 

pollution is found at the site then the appropriate monitoring and 

remediation methods will need to be undertaken. 

 Page 30



3/19/1237/FUL:  

 

5.14 Historic England have no comment to make on the proposal. 

 

5.15 NHS – No objection subject to a contribution of £35, 390.16 towards 

GP provision and £129,547 towards mental health and community 

costs. 

 

5.16 National Trust- No objection subject to a contribution of £7,500 

towards visitor and botanical monitoring and mitigation works at 

Hatfield Forest SSSI, and high-quality, informal, semi-natural areas 

being provided on site. 

 

5.17 Natural England- No objection subject to a contribution towards the 

National Trust to mitigate impacts on Hatfield Forest SSSI, and the 

provision of substantial on-site accessible natural greenspace of 

sufficient high quality and size. 

 

5.18 Herts Police Crime Prevention Unit – Seeks that the developer 

achieves Secured by Design accreditation, and the provision of 

charging points in parking areas to prevent cables being run across 

footways and the highway. 

 

5.19 No comment was received from HCC Ecology or the Environment 

Agency. 

   

 Town/Parish Council Representations 

 

5.20 Bishop’s Stortford Town Council object to the application as the 

documentation does not include details of solar panels and lacks 

green spaces. They seek that the car charging points should be 

provided in accordance with the plan provided. 

 

5.21 Officer comment: Details relating to solar panels can be added as a 

condition in the event of approval. A condition can also be added to 

ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the 

submitted plans (including the EV charging point plan). In relation to 

green spaces, the development forms part of a larger development 

which includes a variety of high-quality green spaces including a 

country park and a central park.  

 

 

Page 31



3/19/1237/FUL:  

 

 

 

Summary of Other Representations 

 

5.22 The application was advertised by both site notice and press notice. 

203 neighbouring properties were written to. 

 

5.23 One objection was received from a neighbouring resident. A 

summary of the objection is as follows: 

 

• Concern over the proximity of plots 49/50 to their property with 

regards to sunlight. 

• No details of windows facing their property 

• Existing issues with vehicles not parked in allocated bays and 

condition of current estate roads. 

 

5.24 Officer comment: The impact on neighbouring amenity is assessed 

in the report below. In relation to road maintenance, the applicant 

comments that the road in question is a current construction access 

which is yet to be topped and adopted. A sweeper is used to keep 

the road as clean as possible during construction. The road will be 

of an adoptable standard once construction is complete.  

 

6.0 Consideration of Relevant Issues 

 

Principle of Development 

 

6.1 The site is no longer required by Hertfordshire County Council for a 

school. The legal agreement associated with the outline planning 

permission requires a planning application for residential 

development to be submitted in this circumstance.  

 

6.2 The purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the 

achievement of sustainable development, including the provision of 

homes and infrastructure in a sustainable manner. 

 

6.3 Paragraph 60 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

(2023) states that to support the Government’s objective of 

significantly boosting the supply of homes, it is important that a 

sufficient amount and variety of land can come forward where it is 

Page 32



3/19/1237/FUL:  

 

needed. The overall aim should be to meet as much of an area’s 

identified housing need as possible including an appropriate mix of 

housing types for the local community. 

 

6.4 Notwithstanding the above, a recent appeal decision concluded that 

the Council cannot currently demonstrate a five-year supply (5YHLS) 

of deliverable housing sites. The consequence of not having a 5YHLS 

is that the ‘tilted balance’ is engaged in the decision-making process. 

The tilted balance refers to paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF which 

states that if the most relevant Local Plan policies for determining a 

planning application are out of date (such as when a 5YHLS cannot 

be demonstrated), the application should be approved. This is 

unless NPPF policies that protect areas or assets of particular 

importance (as defined by the NPPF) provide a clear reason for 

refusing permission, or the harm caused by the application 

significantly and demonstrably outweigh its benefits, when assessed 

against policies of the NPPF as a whole.  

 

6.5 The site is not a protected area or asset of particular importance as 

defined by the NPPF. The application should therefore be approved 

unless the harm caused significantly and demonstrably outweigh its 

benefits.  

 

6.6 In this case, the main benefits of the scheme include the provision 

of 50 dwellings including 20 affordable dwellings, on a vacant 

brownfield site within a residential area. This would create jobs 

throughout the construction period in the short term, and 

economically active occupants able to contribute to the economy of 

the wider area in the long term. The proposal would also result in 

an 11% net gain in biodiversity.  

 

6.7 The proposed residential development could therefore be 

considered acceptable in principle unless these benefits are 

significantly and demonstrably outweighed by any harm identified.  

 

 Design and Landscaping 

 

6.8 Whilst the relevant planning policies are considered out of date 

according to paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF, it is still considered 

reasonable to assess the application against the District Plan to 

Page 33



3/19/1237/FUL:  

 

form a basis for decision making.  

 

6.9 Policy DES4 of the District Plan requires development to be of a high 

standard of design which should respect the character of the site 

and the surrounding area in terms of its scale, height, massing 

(volume, shape), orientation, siting, layout, density, building 

materials, landscaping, environmental assets, and design features. 

 

6.10 The proposal includes various house types including detached, 

semi-detached, terraced dwellings and a flat block. The varied 

typologies would help to promote a varied community and would 

break up the built form to provide visual interest. 

 

6.11 The development includes 2 storey dwellings with a 3-storey flat 

block. These heights are considered appropriate for a residential 

area. The dwellings would front the highway to create active 

frontages and natural surveillance to public areas. It is noted that 

key marker buildings have been introduced at turning heads and 

loop roads to assist in wayfinding. 

 

6.12 Brick will be the dominant finish, with hues of red and buff being 

used to reflect the local area. The proposed roof tiles would be slate 

or red to complement the brickwork. The dwellings would also 

include light and dark weatherboarding for interest. The proposal 

includes projections, feature windows, balconies, canopies, and 

dormer windows for further visual interest. All affordable dwellings 

would reflect the main design elements of the surrounding private 

housing. It is considered that the development would blend in 

visually with the wider residential development. 

 

6.13 The balancing pond softens the development and creates a space 

for an informal play area which will be enhanced with rustic log 

seats and stones. The proposal also includes trees, front and rear 

lawns, hedgerows, and ornamental planting. A native hedgerow is 

proposed along the northern boundary to integrate the 

development with the adjacent bund. It is considered that the 

landscaping complements the architecture and wider landscaping. 

 

6.14 The Council’s Urban Design Officer raises no objection to the 

proposal subject to conditions which shall be added in the event of 

Page 34



3/19/1237/FUL:  

 

approval. 

 

6.15 The Council’s Landscape Officer has been consulted and raises no 

objection to the proposal. 

 

6.16 It is therefore considered that the proposal would respect the 

character and appearance of the area and would include 

landscaping to complement the development and the wider 

development, in compliance with policy DES4. 

 

Amenity 

 

6.17 Policy DES4 of the District Plan seeks that proposals do not result in 

detrimental impacts to the amenity of future occupiers or 

neighbouring residents.  

 

6.18 The main source of noise would be from traffic associated with the 

A120 which borders the north of the site. A full noise report has 

been submitted alongside the application. The proposed 

development would be separated from the A120 by parking courts 

at a minimum distance of 10 metres. Noise will be attenuated using 

several methods such as a 1.8m high noise bund, acoustic glazing 

and acoustic trickle vents to units facing the A120.  

 

6.19 It is considered that the layout, orientation, and design of the 

housing would help to ensure that they do not impact each other by 

becoming overbearing or causing overshadowing or loss of light or 

privacy. In addition, the houses and gardens are considered 

appropriately sized and fit for purpose. 

 

6.20 It is noted that one objection has been received from a 

neighbouring property in relation to the impact on sunlight and 

overlooking from plots 49/50 (semi-detached dwellings). The garden 

of no.50 would be positioned to the rear of this neighbouring 

property. The angle, positioning and separation of the proposed 

dwelling from the neighbouring property would prevent it from 

becoming overbearing or causing overshadowing or loss of light to 

this neighbour. There is one window proposed on the side elevation 

which is a stairwell window which would limit opportunities for 

overlooking. It is not therefore considered that significant 

Page 35



3/19/1237/FUL:  

 

detrimental impacts to this neighbouring property would occur. 

 

6.21 The proposed dwellings are considered to be sufficiently located 

away from other neighbouring dwellings to prevent detrimental 

impacts from occurring. 

 

6.22 The Council’s Environmental Health team raise no objection subject 

to conditions relating to noise attenuation, a Construction 

Environmental Management Plan, electric vehicle charging points 

and contamination. These conditions shall be added to any consent. 

 

6.23 Subject to conditions, it is considered that a satisfactory level of 

amenity would be achieved for the existing occupiers of the wider 

development and the future occupiers of the proposed 

development, in accordance with policy DES4. 

 

Parking and Highways  

 

6.24 Policy TRA2 of the District Plan outlines that development should 

ensure safe and suitable access. Policy TRA3 outlines that suitable 

parking provision must be provided in line with the Council’s Parking 

SPD. 

 

6.25 The site is accessed via the primary road running through St 

Michael’s Hurst which is considered acceptable. The proposed cycle 

and pedestrian routes circulate through the site and connect with 

the existing infrastructure.  

 

6.26 The Council’s Parking Standards require that the development 

provides 114 car parking spaces (including visitor spaces). However, 

the standards allow a 5% discount on sites nearby to public 

transport/cycle links.  

 

6.27 A Residential Travel Plan was granted for the wider development 

which included improved walking and cycling links, free bus travel, 

cycle schemes, and the provision of a bus service to Bishop’s 

Stortford Town Centre, the railway station, and Stansted Airport. 

This document has been updated to include the proposed 

development to ensure the occupants are encouraged to travel 

sustainably. The applicant has also agreed to a contribution towards 

Page 36



3/19/1237/FUL:  

 

a pedestrian and cycleway link from Rye Street to further encourage 

sustainable travel.  

 

6.28 It is therefore considered that a 5% discount to the standards can 

be applied in this circumstance. This was agreed on Phases A to D of 

the wider development. The parking requirement would therefore 

be 108 spaces (including visitor spaces). 

 

6.29 The proposed development includes 113 spaces (including visitor 

spaces) mainly provided through on plot parking, which is 

considered acceptable.  

 

6.30 Cycle storage would be provided either in garages or sheds within 

the curtilage of the property, with a cycle store provided for the 

flats.  

 

6.31 Hertfordshire County Council’s Highways team have been consulted 

and raised no objection subject to conditions requiring the provision 

of the access and parking arrangements, and compliance with the 

updated Residential Travel Plan. These conditions can be added to 

any consent granted. 

 

6.32 It is therefore considered that the proposal would provide a safe 

and suitable access with suitable parking provision, in compliance 

with policies TRA2 and TRA3. 

 

 Sustainability  

 

6.33 Under policies CC1 and CC2 of the District Plan, all proposals must 

demonstrate how the design, materials, construction, and operation 

of the development would minimise overheating, reduce the need 

for heating, integrate green infrastructure and minimise carbon 

dioxide emissions. 

 

6.34 Under policy WAT4 of the District Plan, development must minimise 

the use of mains water through water saving measures, the 

recycling of grey water, and reducing mains water consumption. 

 

6.35 An Energy and Sustainability Statement has been submitted. The 

development would reduce energy usage through the installation of 

Page 37



3/19/1237/FUL:  

 

highly efficient fabric, ventilation, and heating systems, together 

with passive solar gains and an air-tight build. The Statement 

confirms that the proposal would meet Building Regulations L and O 

which require developments to conserve fuel and power and 

prevent overheating. 

 

6.36 A range of potentially appropriate low carbon or renewable 

technologies have been considered in the Statement and it has 

been concluded that solar PV constitutes the preferred and most 

viable technology for the site.  

 

6.37 It is considered reasonable to request conditions to ensure that the 

development is carried out in accordance with the Energy and 

Sustainability Statement and requiring details of the solar panels to 

be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority  

 

6.38 Low and reduced water demand fittings such as taps, showers and 

water consuming appliances will be provided to individual homes 

helping to reduce water demand from the development. All 

dwellings on the site shall achieve a water conservation standard of 

110 litres per person per day (as required by policy WAT4). A 

condition can be added to secure this. 

 

6.39 It is therefore considered that sufficient information has been 

submitted to demonstrate compliance with policies CC1, CC2 and 

WAT4 of the District Plan.  

 

Flooding and Drainage 

 

6.40 Policy WAT1 of the District Plan states that development proposals 

should neither increase the likelihood or intensity of any form of 

flooding, nor increase the risk to people or property on site and to 

neighbouring land or further downstream. Policy WAT3 of the 

District Plan states that development proposals will be required to 

preserve or enhance the water environment. 

 

6.41 The site is within flood zone 1 (lowest probability of flooding). A 

Surface Water Drainage Strategy has been submitted which notes 

that the site would utilise the drainage network serving the wider 

development. The Strategy concludes that the development can be 

Page 38



3/19/1237/FUL:  

 

suitably drained to prevent flooding risks. The proposal also 

includes permeable paving, landscaping, and an attenuation pond 

to further reduce surface water.  

 

6.42 The Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) raise no objection subject to 

clarification in relation to drainage calculations and updated 

drainage drawings being submitted. 

 

6.43 Affinity Water raise no objection subject to the construction works 

and operation of the proposed development site being carried out 

in accordance with the relevant British Standards and Best 

Management Practices. This can be recommended via an 

informative.  

 

6.44 Thames Water raise no objection in relation to the impact of the 

proposal on sewerage. 

 

6.45 No response was received from the Environment Agency. 

 

6.46 It is therefore considered that the proposal would not have an 

unacceptable impact with regards to flooding and drainage or the 

water environment, subject to conditions and the clarification and 

updated drawings required by the LLFA.  

 

Ecology  

 

6.47 Policies NE1 and NE3 of the District Plan indicate that proposals 

should not result in detrimental impacts to biodiversity and should 

seek to enhance biodiversity and create opportunities for wildlife. 

Policy NE2 of the District Plan outlines that all proposals should 

achieve a net gain in biodiversity.  

 

6.48 The site is currently a construction area having formerly been used 

as an agricultural field and as such provides limited opportunities 

for wildlife.   

 

6.49 The proposal includes bird and bat boxes, new trees, hedgerows, 

wildflower, native and ornamental planting, and a pond, to support 

biodiversity.  

 

Page 39



3/19/1237/FUL:  

 

6.50 A Biodiversity Net Gain Design Stage Report (BNG) has been 

submitted. This recommends that a biodiversity net gain of 11.7% 

can be delivered through the enhancement of approximately 0.94 

hectares of poor condition grassland within the country park. This 

can be secured via a legal agreement. 

 

6.51 The BNG report also recommends a Construction and 

Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) for Biodiversity to be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority. This should describe how retained habitats will be 

protected during the construction phase. The BNG report also 

recommends the submission of a Landscape and Ecological 

Management Plan (LEMP) which would detail the long-term 

management objectives, management prescriptions, timetable and 

monitoring of the off-site provision. The CEMP and LEMP can be 

secured via conditions. 

 

6.52 The application site is approximately 5km from Hatfield Forest, 

which is a Site of Special Scientific Interest, a National Nature 

Reserve area and an ancient woodland. The National Trust raise no 

objection to the proposal subject to a financial contribution of £7.5k 

being provided to mitigate against the potential recreational 

pressure on the forest caused by the development. The National 

Trust and Natural England also seek that the proposal includes 

semi-natural areas to further reduce the pressure on the forest.  

 

6.53 The applicant has provided a country park and open space as part 

of the wider development which would reduce pressure on the 

forest. The combination of the country park and financial 

contributions are considered sufficient mitigation in this 

circumstance. 

 

6.54 Subject to conditions and the enhancement of grassland in the 

country park, it is considered that the proposal would not result in 

detrimental impacts to ecology, in compliance with policies NE1, 

NE2 and NE3. 

 

Page 40



3/19/1237/FUL:  

 

Affordable Housing  

 

6.55 Policy HOU3 of the District Plan requires that major developments 

provide 40% affordable housing. The Council’s Affordable Housing 

SPD (2020) seeks that 84% of the affordable housing are properties 

for affordable rent with 16% being for intermediate affordable 

housing. 

 

6.56 Policy HOU7 of the District Plan seeks that the development 

includes accessible and adaptable dwellings to meet Building 

Regulations Requirement M4(2) with a proportion of the dwellings 

provided for wheelchair users to meet Building Regulations 

Requirement M4(3). 

 

6.57 The proposal includes 20 affordable homes (40%) with 15 units for 

affordable rent (84%) and 5 for shared ownership (16%) which is 

compliant.  

 

6.58 It should be noted that the First Homes requirement is not being 

sought in this circumstance as the Council currently prefers to seek 

the provision of affordable rented properties in line with its 

Affordable Housing SPD, which are proposed. This provision is 

considered to better address the local housing need for affordable 

housing in the District. 

 

6.59 It is noted that the Council’s Housing Officer raised concern in 

relation to the balance of the affordable rent units: 

 

Property Type Affordable Rent 

1 bed flat 4 

2 bed flat 2 

2 bed house 7 

3 bed house 2 

4 bed house 0 

All 15 

 

6.60 The key concern is the general over-provision of affordable rented 

flats and under-provision of larger affordable rented properties 

across the wider development and the District. Whilst these Page 41



3/19/1237/FUL:  

 

comments are noted, a meeting was held prior to the submission of 

the updated plans (in 2023) in which the mix was agreed by the 

Council’s Housing Officer. This included a reduction in affordable 

flats from 10 to 6. It is therefore considered that the applicant 

responded positively to the feedback and progressed on this basis. 

It is not therefore considered that this would be a reasonable 

reason for refusal. 

 

6.61 The Council’s Affordable Housing SPD (2020) states that to ensure 

that the design, layout, and size of affordable housing provides a 

dwelling that suits the needs of the household it is providing for and 

delivers the greatest opportunity for longevity within the unit; 

developers should consider the number of people a unit can 

accommodate. Where possible, 2 bed units should be suitable for 4 

people, and 3 bed units should be suitable for 5 people. The 

proposed 2 bed units are suitable for 3 people and the proposed 3 

bed units are suitable for 4 people. This is not compliant with the 

SPD.  

 

6.62 As per paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF, the application should be 

approved unless the harm significantly and demonstrably outweigh 

its benefits. In this case, it is noted that the wider development 

includes affordable rented properties able to accommodate 4 and 5 

people.  The proposed units are also considered to be fit for 

purpose for the number of people they can accommodate with 

space to work from home if necessary. Taking these matters into 

consideration and that the proposal would provide a policy 

compliant number of affordable dwellings with an appropriate 

tenure mix, the proposed size of the units is not considered to 

outweigh the benefits of the scheme and would not be a justified 

reason for refusal in this circumstance.  

 

Infrastructure Requirements 

 

6.63 Paragraph 55 of the NPPF states that Local Planning Authorities 

should consider whether otherwise unacceptable development 

could be made acceptable through the use of conditions or planning 

obligations. Planning obligations should only be used where it is not 

possible to address unacceptable impacts through a planning 

condition. Paragraph 57 of the NPPF states that planning obligations 

Page 42



3/19/1237/FUL:  

 

must only be sought where they are necessary to make the 

development acceptable in planning terms; directly related to the 

development; and fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to 

the development. 

 

6.64 A range of contributions have been requested by this Council to 

ensure that the infrastructure in the town can support the 

additional residents The applicant has agreed the following 

contributions: allotments (£8,843), burial space (£1,050.00); 

community centre (£34,643); parks and gardens and amenity green 

space (£49,288.00); recycling and refuse (£3,600.00) and monitoring 

costs.  

 

6.65 It is noted that a contribution towards a pedestrian and cycleway 

link was requested by the Council’s Section 106 Officer. It is not 

considered that this would be fair or necessary in this case as it has 

been requested separately by the County Council. The outdoor 

tennis contribution was also not considered to be directly relevant 

to the scheme and has been removed. 

 

6.66 The bowls, gym, pool, and fitness studio contributions are 

considered on balance to constitute desirable provisions but are not 

all necessary (with reference to the CIL tests) in order to mitigate the 

impact of the development. The applicant has agreed to provide 

£29,267 which contains flexibility to contribute towards a local 

leisure project which could include enhancement towards bowls, 

gym, pool, and fitness provisions. The scale of the contribution is 

considered proportionate to the scale of the development, 

reasonable and necessary to facilitate the development whilst 

providing the necessary supporting infrastructure to mitigate the 

increased demand for these services. This is considered acceptable 

in this circumstance when taking into consideration the green 

spaces and country park already provided by the applicant in the 

wider development.  

 

6.67 The applicant has also agreed to pay all of the planning obligations 

requested by Hertfordshire County Council towards primary 

education (£479,225), secondary education (£582,292), childcare 

services (£454), special educational needs and disabilities (£63,416), 

library services (£15,376), youth service (£9,585), recycling centre 

Page 43



3/19/1237/FUL:  

 

(£1,179), waste transfer station (£5,271), fire and rescue service 

(£19,030), sustainable transport (£318,600) and monitoring costs.  

 

6.68 The NHS contributions of £35,390.16 towards GP provision and 

£129,547 towards mental health and community costs, have also 

been agreed. 

 

6.69 The National Trust also requested £7.5k to mitigate the impact on 

Hatfield Forest, which has been agreed. 

 

6.70 All the above contributions (totalling over £1.8 million) are proposed 

to be secured by heads of terms within the legal agreement.  

 

 Other matters 

 

 Waste 

 

6.71 Waste storage is to be kept on plot and brought to the front of the 

houses or within retrieval distance of collection vehicles. Turning 

heads have been provided to allow refuse vehicles to turn. The 

Council’s Waste team raise no objection to the proposal. 

 

Equality 

 

6.72 Section 149 of the Equality Act (2010) requires the Council to 

consider the equality impacts on all protected groups when 

exercising its functions. 

 

6.73 The policies and guidance referenced in the committee report have 

all been subject to an equalities impact assessment (EqIA) and 

therefore, the planning policy framework is considered to meet the 

first stage in the process. 

 

6.74 The application proposes new housing, including affordable and 

adaptable units. It is not considered that the proposal would harm 

those with protected characteristics defined by the Act. 

   

6.75 It is the case that during construction works there may be impacts 

due to the building works taking place however these would be 

temporary in nature and would be outweighed by the positive 

Page 44



3/19/1237/FUL:  

 

benefits of the resultant scheme. 

 

6.76 Officers have duly considered the equalities impacts on protected 

groups in the context of the development proposals. As such it is 

considered that the Council has fulfilled its requirements to 

consider the equality impacts on protected groups. 

 

7.0 Conclusion 

 

7.1 The Council cannot currently demonstrate a five-year supply 

(5YHLS) of deliverable housing sites. The consequence of not having 

a 5YHLS is that the ‘tilted balance’ is engaged in the decision-making 

process. As per paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF, the application should 

be approved unless the harm caused by the application significantly 

and demonstrably outweigh its benefits. 

 

7.2 In this case, the proposal would provide 50 dwellings within a 

residential area including 20 affordable dwellings. It would also 

create economic benefits during and after the construction period 

and would result in an 11% net gain in biodiversity. It is considered 

that any harm identified would not significantly and demonstrably 

outweigh its benefits, with any harm identified mitigated via 

conditions or contributions.  

 

7.3 In addition, the proposed development is considered acceptable 

with regards to design, the impact upon neighbouring amenity, 

highways, landscaping, flooding and drainage, climate change and 

water resources, ecology, and biodiversity, subject to conditions and 

planning obligations.  

 

7.4 The application is therefore considered to be in overall compliance 

with the relevant policies within the East Herts District Plan, the 

NPPF and the Neighbourhood Plan. The application is therefore 

recommended for approval subject to conditions and a legal 

agreement.  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 45



3/19/1237/FUL:  

 

8.0  RECOMMENDATION 

 

8.1  That planning permission be GRANTED subject to a legal agreement 

and the draft conditions/reasons set out below at the end of this 

report. 

 

Draft Legal Agreement 

Financial contributions set out below: 

 

HCC Contributions 

 

• Primary Education towards the expansion of Richard Whittington 

Primary School including nursery provision, and/or provision serving 

the development (£479, 225). 

• Secondary Education towards the delivery of the new 6FE 

secondary school at the BSN development and/or provision serving 

the development (£582, 292) 

• Childcare Service 5-11 years towards Windhill Primary School 

and/or provision serving the development (£454) 

• Special Educational Needs and Disabilities towards the delivery 

of new Severe Learning Difficulty special school places and/or 

provision serving the development (£63, 416) 

• Library Service towards increasing the capacity of Bishop’s 

Stortford Library or its future re-provision, and/or provision serving 

the development (£15, 376) 

• Youth Service towards increasing the capacity of Bishop’s Stortford 

Young People’s Centre or its future re-provision, and/or provision 

serving the development (£9, 585) 

• Waste Service Recycling Centre towards increasing the capacity of 

Bishop’s Stortford Recycling Centre and/or provision serving the 

development (£1, 179) 

• Waste Service Transfer Station towards the new Eastern Transfer 

Station and/or provision serving the development (£5, 271) 

• Fire and Rescue Service towards increasing the capacity of 

Bishop’s Stortford Fire Station and/or provision serving the 

development (£19, 030) 

• HCC Monitoring Costs towards HCC costs (£340) 

• Sustainable Transport towards a cycleway from Rye Street into 

Canons Mill Lane (£318,600). 

 

Page 46



3/19/1237/FUL:  

 

EHDC Contributions 

 

• Affordable Housing – 40% (15 affordable rent and 5 shared 

ownership). 

• Allotments- towards the provision of the allotment site and 

community growing space within the larger development and/or 

towards the upgrading of existing allotment facilities in Bishop’s 

Stortford (£8,843). 

• Local Leisure Contribution- towards the provision of 

improvements to the clubhouse and/or upgrading of the green at 

Bishop’s Stortford Bowls Club and/or other Bowls Clubs in the 

vicinity as used by the residents of the development and/or towards 

the cost of the Council's capital refurbishment programme to 

include the provision of new fitness gym equipment and/or 

improvements to the existing fitness gym area and equipment at 

Grange Paddocks Leisure Centre (the nearest public gym which can 

be used by the residents of the development and/or towards the 

cost of the Council's capital programme to include the provision of 

new studio equipment and/or improvements to the existing studio 

space and equipment at Grange Paddocks Leisure Centre (the 

nearest public studio space which can be used by the residents of 

the development) and/or towards the cost of the Council's capital 

programme to include the provision of improvements and 

maintenance to the swimming pool at Grange Paddocks Leisure 

Centre (the nearest public pool which can be used by the residents 

of the development) (£29,267). 

• Burial Space Contribution - towards the provision by Bishop's 

Stortford Town Council of new burial ground or additional capacity 

or improvement of burial space to serve Bishop's Stortford 

(£1,050.00). 

• Community Centre Contribution - towards the costs of the new 

Community Centre within the Bishop’s Stortford North development 

(£34,643). 

• EHDC Monitoring - towards the Council's costs of monitoring the 

performance of the planning obligations (£300 + £300 for each 

EHDC obligation). 

• Parks and Gardens and Amenity Green Space- towards the 

provision of improvements at Castle Park (Sworders Field) as part of 

the larger capital improvement project including landscape planting 

and new access features such as gates, seating, and interpretation 

Page 47



3/19/1237/FUL:  

 

signage and/or other public parks and amenity green spaces used 

by the residents of the development (£49,288.00). 

• Recycling and Refuse- towards the Council's costs for provision of 

recycling and waste containers (bins) at the development 

contribution (£3,600.00). 

 

Other Financial Contributions 

 

• NHS- towards GP provision (£35, 390.16) and mental health and 

community costs (£129,547). 

• National Trust- towards visitor and botanical monitoring and 

mitigation works at Hatfield Forest SSSI (£7,500). 

 

Non Financial 

 

• The enhancement of approximately 0.94 hectares of poor condition 

grassland within the country park to achieve a net gain in 

biodiversity of 11.7%. 

 

Conditions 

 

General: 

 

1. The development to which this permission relates shall be begun 

within a period of three years commencing on the date of this 

notice. 

 

Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town 

and Country Planning Act 1990 (As Amended). 

 

2. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in 

accordance with the approved plans listed at the end of this 

Decision Notice.  

 

Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance 

with the approved plans, drawings and specifications. 

 

3. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in 

accordance with the recommendations set out in section 4 of the 

submitted Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (undertaken by Ramboll 

Page 48



3/19/1237/FUL:  

 

UK Limited, dated June 2019) and within the Preliminary Ecological 

Appraisal Supporting Statement Rev A (undertaken by Southern 

Ecological Solutions, dated October 2023). 

 

Reason: In the interest of ecology in accordance with policies NE2 

and NE3 of the East Herts District Plan 2018. 

 

4. Any external artificial lighting at the development hereby approved 

shall not exceed lux levels of vertical illumination at neighbouring 

premises that are recommended by the Institution of Lighting 

Professionals Guidance Note 01/20 'Guidance notes for the 

reduction of obtrusive light'. Lighting should be minimized, and 

glare and sky glow should be prevented by correctly using, locating, 

aiming, and shielding luminaires, in accordance with the Guidance 

Note. 

Reason: In order to ensure an adequate level of amenity for the 

occupants of nearby properties in accordance with Policy EQ3 Light 

Pollution and DES4 Design of Development of the adopted East 

Herts District Plan 2018. 

 

5. Any trees or plants that, within a period of five years after planting, 

are removed, die, or become, in the opinion of the Local Planning 

Authority, seriously damaged or defective, shall be replaced as soon 

as is reasonably practicable with others of species, size and number 

as originally approved, unless the Local Planning Authority gives its 

written consent to any variation.  

 

Reason: To ensure the provision, establishment, and maintenance 

of a reasonable standard of landscaping in accordance with the 

approved designs, in accordance with policies DES3 and DES4 of the 

East Herts District Plan 2018. 

 

6. The development shall be carried out in accordance with section 8 

of the submitted Energy and Sustainability Statement and shall 

include a fabric first approach to sustainable construction including, 

but not limited to, passive design measures, thermal bridging and 

air-tight builds as identified within the Statement.  

 

Reason: To minimise carbon dioxide emissions in accordance with 

Policy CC2 of the East Herts District Plan 2018. 

Page 49



3/19/1237/FUL:  

 

 

Prior to first occupation: 

 

7. Prior to first occupation of the development hereby approved, 

details of landscaping shall be submitted and approved in writing 

and shall include full details of both hard and soft landscape 

proposals, finished levels or contours, hard surfacing materials, 

retained landscape features, planting plans, schedules of plants, 

species, planting sizes, density of planting and implementation 

timetable and thereafter the development should be implemented 

in accordance with the approved details. 

 

Reason: To ensure high-quality landscaping is secured in 

accordance with Policies DES3 and DES4 of the East Herts District 

Plan 2018. 

 

8. Prior to the first occupation of each dwelling hereby approved, an 

electric vehicle charging point shall be provided for the property as 

shown on approved drawing C00208_015 B. 

Reason: To help support improvements in air quality and in 

accordance with Policy TRA3 and CC2 of the East Herts District Plan 

2018 

 

9. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved, 

measures shall be incorporated within the development to ensure 

that a water efficiency standard of 110 litres (or less) per person per 

day is achieved. 

 

Reason: To achieve a reduction in water usage and increased water 

efficiency in accordance with Policy WAT4 of the East Herts District 

Plan 2018. 

 

10. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved, 

the measures and initiatives set out within the updated Residential 

Travel Plan (dated June 2019) shall be implemented in accordance 

with the approved details.  

 

Reason: To ensure that the development is as sustainable as 

possible. 

 

Page 50



3/19/1237/FUL:  

 

11. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved, a 

Biodiversity Enhancement Plan shall be submitted to and approved 

in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This shall include the 

location and details of the biodiversity enhancements measures 

(bird and bat boxes etc) to be provided.  

 

Reason: To enhance biodiversity and create opportunities for 

wildlife and to achieve a minimum 10% net gain in biodiversity in 

accordance with policies NE2 and NE3 of the East Herts District Plan 

2018. 

 

12. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved, 

full details, plans and elevations of the Photovoltaic Panels to be 

provided on site shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by 

the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out 

in accordance with the approved details. 

 

Reason: To accord with the measures set out in the approved 

energy strategy and to minimise carbon dioxide emissions across 

the site in accordance with Policy CC2 of the East Herts District Plan 

2018. 

 

Prior to any above ground construction works: 

 

13. Prior to any above ground construction works being commenced, 

the external materials of construction set out below shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority, and thereafter the development shall be implemented in 

accordance with the approved details. 

 

• External bricks – all colours  

• External weather boarding- all colours  

• Roof tiles – all colours/types  

• External doors and windows  

• All hard landscaping materials (including specification and 

extent to be clarified on a plan) of paving and edging treatment 

to drives, paths and access roads; and boundary treatments 

including fences, walls, and bollards. 

• Details of Juliet balconies (on apartments), including depth, 

soffits, railings, and how it is to be attached (scale 1:20) 

Page 51



3/19/1237/FUL:  

 

• Details of projecting box windows, including depth, soffits, roof, 

and how it is to be attached (scale 1:20).  

• Details of porch canopies, including depth, soffits, roof, and 

how it is to be attached (scale 1:20):  

 

Reason: In the interests of amenity and good design in accordance 

with Policy DES4 of the East Herts District Plan 2018. 

 

14. Prior to the commencement of the development above ground level 

a scheme shall be submitted for the protection of the dwellings 

from noise for approval in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

The scheme shall follow the recommendations identified in the “St 

Michaels Hurst Phase E Noise Impact Assessment”, report reference 

1700003911, dated June 2019 by Ramboll UK Ltd.  No dwellings shall 

be occupied until the scheme providing protection for those 

dwellings has been implemented in accordance with the approved 

details and has been demonstrated to achieve the required noise 

levels to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority. The 

approved scheme shall be retained in accordance with those details 

thereafter.  

 

Reason: To ensure an adequate level of amenity for residents of the 

new dwellings in accordance with policy EQ2 of the adopted East 

Herts District Plan 2018. 

 

Prior to commencement: 

 

15. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved, 

a scheme to deal with contamination of land/ground gas/controlled 

waters shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 

Planning Authority. The scheme shall include all of the following 

measures, unless the Local Planning Authority dispenses with any 

such requirement specifically in writing: 

 

i.  A Phase I site investigation report carried out by a competent 

person to include a desk study, site walkover, the production of 

a site conceptual model and a human health and 

environmental risk assessment, undertaken in accordance with 

BS 10175: 2011 Investigation of Potentially Contaminated Sites Page 52



3/19/1237/FUL:  

 

– Code of Practice. 

 

ii.  A Phase II intrusive investigation report detailing all 

investigative works and sampling on site, together with the 

results of the analysis, undertaken in accordance with BS 

10175:2011 Investigation of Potentially Contaminated Sites – 

Code of Practice. The report shall include a detailed quantitative 

human health and environmental risk assessment. 

 

iii.  A remediation scheme detailing how the remediation will be 

undertaken, what methods will be used and what is to be 

achieved. A clear end point of the remediation shall be stated, 

and how this will be validated. Any ongoing monitoring shall 

also be determined. 

 

Reason: To minimise and prevent pollution of the land and the 

water environment and in accordance with national planning policy 

guidance set out in section 11 of National Planning Policy 

Framework and in order to protect human health and the 

environment in accordance with policy EQ1 of the East Herts District 

Plan 2018.  

 

16. If during the works contamination is encountered which has not 

previously been identified, then the additional contamination shall 

be fully assessed in an appropriate remediation scheme which shall 

be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority. 

 

A validation report detailing the proposed remediation works and 

quality assurance certificates to show that the works have been 

carried out in full accordance with the approved methodology shall 

be submitted prior to first occupation of the development. Details of 

any post-remedial sampling and analysis to demonstrate that the 

site has achieved the required clean-up criteria shall be included, 

together with the necessary documentation detailing what waste 

materials have been removed from the site. 

 

Reason: To minimise and prevent pollution of the land and the 

water environment and in accordance with national planning policy 

guidance set out in section 11 of National Planning Policy 

Page 53



3/19/1237/FUL:  

 

Framework and in order to protect human health and the 

environment in accordance with policy EQ1 of the East Herts District 

Plan 2018.  

 

17. Prior to the commencement of development hereby approved, a 

detailed Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) shall 

be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority, and the plan shall include the following:  

 

a. The construction programme and phasing 

b. Hours of operation, delivery, and storage of materials 

c. Details of any highway works necessary to enable construction 

to take place 

d. Parking and loading arrangements 

e. Details of hoarding 

f. Management of traffic to reduce congestion 

g. Control of dust and dirt on the public highway 

h. Details of consultation and complaint management with local 

businesses and neighbours 

i. Waste management proposals 

j. Mechanisms to deal with environmental impacts such as noise 

and vibration, air quality and dust, light and odour. 

k. Details of any proposed piling operations, including justification 

for the proposed piling strategy, a vibration impact assessment 

and proposed control and mitigation measures. 

l. Details of construction vehicle numbers, type, and routing 

m. Details of storage compounds (including areas designated for 

car parking) 

n. Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities. 

o. Identification of "biodiversity protection zones"  

p. Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive 

working practices) to avoid or reduce ecological impacts during 

construction  

q. Direction of security/construction lighting away from protection 

zones, and tree canopies  

r. The location and timing of sensitive works to avoid harm to 

biodiversity features  

s. The times during construction when specialist ecologists need 

to be present on site to oversee works  

t. Responsible persons and lines of communication  

Page 54



3/19/1237/FUL:  

 

u. The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of 

works (ECoW) or similarly competent person  

v. Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs. 

 

All works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved CMP 

thereafter. 

  

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and the control of 

environmental impacts on existing and future residents and ecology 

in accordance with policies DES4, EQ2, NE2 and NE3 of the East 

Herts District Plan 2018. 

 

18. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved, 

full details shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 

Local Planning Authority in relation to the proposed arrangements 

for future management and maintenance of the proposed streets 

within the development. The streets shall thereafter be maintained 

in accordance with the approved management and maintenance 

details until such time as a Private Management and Maintenance 

Company has been established.  

 

Reason: To ensure satisfactory development of the site and to 

ensure estate roads are managed and maintained thereafter to a 

suitable and safe standard.  

 

19. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved, 

a Landscape and Ecological Management Plan (LEMP) shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority.  

 

The content of the LEMP shall include but not be limited to:   

 

a. Description and evaluation of features to be managed.  

b.  Ecological trends and constraints on site that might influence 

management.  

c.  Aims and objectives of management.  

d.  Appropriate management options for achieving aims and 

objectives.  

e.  Prescriptions for management actions.  Page 55



3/19/1237/FUL:  

 

f.  Preparation of a work schedule (including an annual work plan 

capable of being rolled forward over a five-year period).  

g.  Details of the body or organization responsible for 

implementation of the plan.  

h.  Ongoing monitoring and remedial measures.  

 

The LEMP shall also include details of the legal and funding 

mechanism (s) by which the long-term implementation of the plan 

will be secured by the developer with the management body(ies) 

responsible for its delivery.  

 

The plan shall also set out (where the results from monitoring show 

that conservation aims and objectives of the LEMP are not being 

met) how contingencies and/ or remedial action will be identified, 

agreed, and implemented so that the development still delivers a 

biodiversity net gain.  

 

All drawings and maps will be produced using the QGIS programme 

to allow accurate monitoring. 

 

The approved plan shall be implemented in full accordance with the 

approved details.  

 

Reason: To ensure a net gain in biodiversity and in the interest of 

ecology in accordance with policies NE2 and NE3 of the East Herts  

District Plan 2018.  

  

Informatives: 

 

1. This permission does not convey any consent which may be 

required under any legislation other than the Town and Country 

Planning Acts. Any permission required under the Building 

Regulations or under any other Act, must be obtained from the 

relevant authority or body e.g., Fire Officer, Health and Safety 

Executive, Environment Agency (Water Interest) etc. Neither does 

this permission negate or override any private covenants which may 

affect the land. 

 

2.   East Herts Council has considered the applicant's proposal in a 

positive and proactive manner with regard to the policies of the 

Page 56



3/19/1237/FUL:  

 

Development Plan and any relevant material considerations. The 

balance of the considerations is that permission should be granted. 

 

 3.    The applicant is advised that the storage of materials associated 

with the construction of this development should be provided 

within the site on land which is not public highway, and the use of 

such areas must not interfere with the public highway. If this is not 

possible, authorisation should be sought from the Highway 

Authority before construction works commence. Further 

information is available via the website:  

https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-

andpavements/business-and-developer-information/development-

management/highwaysdevelopmentmanagement.aspx 

 

4. It is an offence under section 137 of the Highways Act 1980 for any 

person, without lawful authority or excuse, in any way to wilfully 

obstruct the free passage along a highway or public right of way. If 

this development is likely to result in the public highway or public 

right of way network becoming routinely blocked (fully or partly) the 

applicant must contact the Highway Authority to obtain their 

permission and requirements before construction works 

commence.  

 

5. It is an offence under section 148 of the Highways Act 1980 to 

deposit mud or other debris on the public highway, and section 149 

of the same Act gives the Highway Authority powers to remove such 

material at the expense of the party responsible. Therefore, best 

practical means shall be taken at all times to ensure that all vehicles 

leaving the site during construction of the development are in a 

condition such as not to emit dust or deposit mud, slurry or other 

debris on the highway.  

 

6. The applicant is advised that in order to comply with this permission 

it will be necessary for the developer of the site to enter into an 

agreement with Hertfordshire County Council as Highway Authority 

under Section 278 of the Highways Act 1980 to ensure the 

satisfactory completion of the access and associated road 

improvements. The construction of such works must be undertaken 

to the satisfaction and specification of the Highway Authority, and 

by a contractor who is authorised to work in the public highway. 

Page 57

https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-andpavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highwaysdevelopmentmanagement.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-andpavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highwaysdevelopmentmanagement.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-andpavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highwaysdevelopmentmanagement.aspx


3/19/1237/FUL:  

 

Before works commence the applicant will need to apply to the 

Highway Authority to obtain their permission and requirements.  

 

6. The developer is encouraged to achieve Secured By Design 

accreditation to demonstrate that the fenestration is secure and 

meets Building Regulations Approved Document Part Q (England 

and Wales). 

 

7. The construction works and operation of the proposed 

development site should be carried out in accordance with the 

relevant British Standards and Best Management Practices. If any 

pollution is found at the site then the appropriate monitoring and 

remediation methods will need to be discussed with Affinity Water. 

 

 

 

Page 58



WindsFour

Woodview
House

48

Garage

32

77.7m

El Sub Sta

67.7m

61.9m

62.8m

7

6

El Sub Sta

Dr
ai

n

Drain

SL

GOODLIF
FE

 P
AR

K

ST
AN

ST
ED

 R
OAD

Track

Track

79.2m

26

27

13

7

B 1383

Path
 (u

m)

GP
62.2m

64.6m
65.2m

A 120

ETL

Und

GP

Path

Rive
r S

tort

20

36

21

1

El
 S

ub
 S

ta

Industrial Park

Stort Valley

3

Garage

Depot

10

2

65.8m

221

1

Garage

61.0m

225

Mountbatten

Station
Pumping

60.7m

Rive
r

Dr
ai

n

Stort

14

8

7

2

13

12

1

6

42

52

THE ASPENS

63.7m

Bournebrook

Partridges

35

33

FB

CW

SL

Birchanger Industrial Estate

HA
ZE

L 
EN

D 
RO

AD

MICHAELS ROAD

HAZE
L E

ND R
OAD

A120

ST
AN

ST
ED

 R
OAD

Phase E application boundary

Land under control of applicant

0 10m 50m

COUNTRYSIDE PROPERTIES (UK) LIMITED
HOUSE BUILDING CENTRAL

TURNFORD PLACE, GREAT CAMBRIDGE ROAD
BROXBOURNE, HERTFORDSHIRE EN10 6NH

T:01992 367760

© This drawing is copyright of Countryside Properties (UK) Limited and must not be copied or reproduced in whole or in part, nor used in conjunction with any project without Countryside's written consent.

DRAWING TITLE:

SITE:

SCALE
@A3:

DRAWN: APPROVED: DATE:

DRAWING NUMBER:

PROJECT
No:

ORG: DRG NUMBER:SCOPE
ELEMENT:

LOCATION: TYPE: ROLE: REV:

PHASE E HAZEL END

LOCATION PLAN

1:2500

l:\countryside properties plc\22.028 hazel end e planning\bdg drawings\layout\002 hazel end park phase e location plan.dwg

PT Aug '23

PL1002ADRXXGEBDGC00208

PLANNING ISSUE1 30.06.21 PT .

P
age 59

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
NORTH



NEW PLANNING APPEALS LODGED NOVEMBER 2023
Head of Planning and Building Control

Application 
Number

Proposal Address Decision Appeal Start 
Date

Appeal 
Procedure

3/22/0719/FUL Construction of 1 detached dwelling with associated landscaping to include 
patio and driveway. Existing access to be upgraded. Creation of pedestrian 
access.

 The Chalk Pit The 
  CausewayFurneux Pelham 

Refused 
Delegated

11/12/2023 Written 
Representation

3/22/2078/FUL Demolition of barn and nissen huts. Erection of new single dwelling and 
four commercial units.

Greenleys Slough Road
Allens Green
Sawbridgeworth
 CM21 0LR

Refused 
Delegated

12/12/2023 Written 
Representation

3/23/0620/VAR Removal of condition 11 (Use for the provision of live/work units) of 
planning permission 3/11/1808/FP -Conversion and extensions and 
alterations to existing sheds to provide 6 live/work units.

 Ash Tree Barn 1-6Monks 
 Green FarmMangrove 

   LaneBrickendon SG13 8QL

Non 
Determination

12/12/2023 Written 
Representation

3/23/0721/FUL Installation of 3 x rows of freestanding solar panels along with associated 
cable connection to dwelling.

 Stanstead LodgeBriggens Park 
 RoadStanstead 

   AbbottsWare SG12 8LD

Refused 
Delegated

18/12/2023 Written 
Representation

3/23/0766/HH Construction of car port to front of property   LongridgeAmwell HillGreat 
   AmwellWare SG12 9RG

Refused 
Delegated

07/12/2023 Fast Track

3/23/1069/HH Single storey garage and gym building.  Lorne CroftWellpond 
    GreenStandonWare SG11 

1NJ

Refused 
Delegated

20/12/2023 Fast Track

3/23/1429/HH Erection of detached car port The Beeches Westmill
Buntingford
 
SG9 9LL

Refused 
Delegated

20/12/2023 Fast Track

3/23/1443/HH Proposed first floor single storey side and rear extension incorporating juliet 
balconies with part ground floor rear extension. Ground floor front 
extension. Alterations to facade, roofing, and fenestration. Relocation and 
extension of external steps to rear. Alterations to driveway.

 7 Postwood GreenHertford 
   HeathHertford SG13 7QJ

Refused 
Delegated

01/12/2023 Fast Track

Background Papers
None

Contact Officers
Sara Saunders, Head of Planning and Building Control - Ext 1656

Page 60

Agenda Item 6



EAST HERTS COUNCIL

DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

ITEMS FOR REPORT AND NOTING

DECEMBER 2023
Application Number 3/21/2763/HH

Decsn Refused

Level of Decision Delegated

Address Ivy Cottage 9 Malting Lane Braughing Ware   SG11 2QZ

Appellant Mr Scott

Proposal

Demolition of outbuilding. Garage conversion to create one bedroom self contained annexe with two storey side 

extension. Removal of garage door with two replacement ground floor windows, infill of door opening to front, 

insertion of double doors and ground floor window to rear. Insertion of 1.2 metre wooden rail and post fence.

Appeal Decision Dismissed

Application Number 3/22/0356/HH

Decsn Refused

Level of Decision Delegated

Address 1 Harrison Lane Balls Park Hertford   SG13 8FE

Appellant Mr R Pascoe

Proposal
Part single storey front extension, part first floor side extension incorporating a dormer window. Insertion of 

dormer to side elevation and external alterations.

Appeal Decision Dismissed

Application Number 3/22/0813/FUL

Decsn Refused

Level of Decision Delegated

Address Quinbury Farm Hay Street Braughing Ware   SG11 2RE

Appellant Mr Adam Saggers

Proposal Continued erection of four dwellings previously approved under reference 3/14/1204/FP.

Appeal Decision Allowed

Application Number 3/22/1237/FUL

Decsn Granted

Level of Decision Delegated

Address Land Between 14 Willow Corner And The Old Vicarage Well Row Bayford   SG13 8PW

Appellant Bonnel Homes Ltd And The St Albans Diocesan Board Of Finance

Proposal Erection of 1 detached dwelling house and construction of vehicular access.

Appeal Decision Withdrawn

Application Number 3/22/1547/TEL

Decsn Refused

Level of Decision Delegated

Address Brookfield Farm Car Park Aston End Road Aston Stevenage   SG2 7EU

Appellant MBNL

Proposal
Installation of a 20m lattice tower, 6 antennas, 4 600mm transmission dishes, 4 equipment cabinets, erection of 

a 1.8m high palisade fence and associated works.

Appeal Decision Allowed

Application Number 3/23/0349/HH

Decsn Refused

Level of Decision Delegated

Address 12 Highfield Farm Mangrove Lane Brickendon Hertford   SG13 8QJ

Appellant Mr Michael Kirby

Proposal Single storey rear extension.

Appeal Decision Dismissed

Page 61



  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 16 October 2023 

by R Aston BSc (Hons) DipTP MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State 

Decision date: 12 DECEMBER 2023 

 
Appeal Ref: APP/J1915/W/23/3316232 

Ivy Cottage, 9 Malting Lane, Braughing, Ware, Hertfordshire SG11 2QZ 

• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to grant planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by Mr Brendon Scott against the decision of East Hertfordshire 

District Council. 

• The application Ref 3/21/2763/HH, dated 19 January 2021, was refused by notice dated 

14 December 2022. 

• The development proposed is described as ‘demolition of outbuilding. Garage conversion 

to create one-bedroom self-contained annexe with two storey side extension. Removal 

of garage door with two replacement ground floor windows, infill of door opening to 

front, insertion of 1.2 metre wooden rail and post fence’. 
 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed. 

Application for costs 

2. An application for costs form was submitted by Mr Brendon Scott against East 
Hertfordshire District Council. However, the application was incomplete as it 
provided no reasons for the application. No reasons were provided by the final 

comments stage, and in accordance with the Planning Practice Guidance1 I 
have not therefore considered the application any further.  

Procedural Matters 

3. In addition to this s78 Householder appeal an appeal against the refusal of 
listed building consent was also submitted2. However, in accordance with the 

Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (the Act) the 
building to which the appeal relates is not listed in itself and was constructed 

after 1948, so is not a curtilage structure for the purposes of the Act.  

4. Further, it is not referred to in the listing description or as a listed building in 
the relevant conservation area appraisal. I sought the comments of the parties 

on this matter who both confirmed that consent is not required. The appellant 
has confirmed that the appeal will be withdrawn, and I have not therefore 

considered that appeal any further in this decision. 

5. As the proposal affects the setting of a listed building and is in a conservation 
area, I have had special regard to sections 66(1) and 72(1) of the Act. 

 
1 Paragraph 035 Reference ID: 16-035-20161210. 
2 APP/J1915/Y/23/3316231 pursuant to LPA ref: 3/21/2764/LBC. 

Page 62

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/W/23/3316232 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

6. Amended plans were submitted some weeks prior to the Council’s decision but 

were not considered in determining the application. Having sought clarification 
from the parties, the plans were submitted because the parish council brought 

to the appellant’s attention that a public right of way (the PRoW) was located 
to the rear. Amended plans were therefore submitted showing the PRoW but 
with no other changes to the proposal3. 

7. The development is not so changed that to consider the plans would be to 
deprive those who should have been consulted on the changed development of 

the opportunity of such consultation. There would be no prejudice to any party 
from my consideration of the amended plans in determining the appeal and I 
have therefore taken them into account. 

Main Issues 

8. The main issues are the effect of the proposal on the setting of the Grade II 

listed building, Ivy Cottage, and whether the proposal would preserve or 
enhance the character or appearance of the Braughing Conservation Area    
(the BCA). 

 
Reasons 

 
Setting of Ivy Cottage 

9. Section 66(1) of the Act requires decision makers to have special regard to the 

desirability of preserving a listed building or its setting or any features of 
special architectural or historic interest. This is the case when considering 

whether to grant planning permission for development which affects a listed 
building or its setting. 

10. Ivy Cottage was listed in 1984 and dates from the 18th century. Timber framed 

with a red brick sill and part stuccoed it sits under a steep red tile roof with 
gable dormers on the front facing elevation. I consider that the significance and 

special interest of the listed building, insofar as it relates to this appeal, derives 
from its age, architectural features, and historic fabric and as a repository of 
past building traditions and technologies within a historic rural settlement. 

11. The garage and pool room (the outbuildings) are sited in proximity to the north 
and adjacent to an outdoor swimming pool. Despite the contention that they 

are incongruous structures I observed they were of a simple form and 
traditional appearance entirely sympathetic to the rural vernacular and the 
building’s setting. There is nothing substantive before me to indicate they are 

no longer fit for purpose structurally or aesthetically. 

12. The setting of a heritage asset is defined as the surroundings in which that 

heritage asset is experienced. The setting of the building, insofar as it relates 
to this appeal, is primarily associated with the historic importance of the 

building and the semi-rural character of the settlement at this point, sited 
above the River Quin. 

13. Experienced from within its grounds, including the PRoW and further afield 

across the valley, the outbuildings complement and are subservient to Ivy 
Cottage due to their domestic proportions and appearance. In views across the 

valley from the east the open setting above the river course positively 

 
3 Revised drawing no. 1046_YPUK_P001 Rev P2. 

Page 63

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/W/23/3316232 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

contributes to the appreciation and understanding of the special interest and 

significance of the building within its rural landscape. 

14. As with the existing outbuildings, the proposal would extend slightly beyond 

the building line of the prominent southeast facing elevation of Ivy Cottage. 
Despite the use of sympathetic materials and fenestration and with only a small 
increase in footprint, between the two existing structures, in such proximity the 

resultant elongation of the pitched roof across the full extent of the 
outbuildings and introduction of a gable end would result in an overly large and 

prominent structure close to the listed building. Of a comparable height and 
scale the eye would be unacceptably drawn to the unduly large expanse of roof 
plane, with little articulation or visual relief other than rooflights on the rear 

elevation facing away from the listed building.  

15. I do not agree with the appellant that it would be physically and aesthetically 

subservient to Ivy Cottage. Rather, its size and appearance, with the use of 
black weatherboarding at first floor level, would visually compete and detract 
attention away from the historic building. Given the local topography the 

effects would be apparent within the immediate area surrounding the building, 
from the PRoW and across the River Quin valley. This would harmfully erode 

the contribution that the setting makes to the significance and special interest 
of Ivy Cottage. 

16. The property has extensive gravel parking areas and even in losing additional 

undercover parking space from the loss of the garage, vehicles are parked 
within the immediate setting around the building. The addition of further 

domestic vehicles would not be significant and would preserve the significance 
of the building in terms of its setting. The proposed post and rail fencing would 
be sympathetic to the existing fencing and given its extent, location, and 

acceptable rural appearance it would preserve the setting of the listed building. 

17. I have been referred to an allocated housing site within the Braughing 

Neighbourhood Plan (the NP) that the appellant contends would affect the 
setting of the listed building. However, on the evidence before me an 
associated application4 has yet to be determined so the submitted site plan and 

consultation comments submitted are not entirely determinative. That site is 
located to the west of the appeal site and heritage impacts would need to be 

considered as part of the determination of that proposal.  

18. I also observed rear elevations and buildings associated with properties along 
Green End are visible from the appeal site on higher ground to the west. Even 

if built form ends up being closer to the appeal site, the NP contains criterions 
that must be met, including the retention of a significant landscaped buffer 

along the eastern boundary with the appeal site. I have also identified specific 
effects in terms of the effects on the setting of Ivy Cottage that would be 

readily apparent from the east across the valley and within the immediate 
surroundings of the building and the PRoW. Consequently, it does not alter my 
view or justify the harm to the setting of the listed building that I have 

identified. 

19. The National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) advises that when 

considering the impact of development on the significance of a designated 
heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation. I find 

 
4 3/20/0793/FUL. 

Page 64

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/W/23/3316232 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          4 

the harm to be less than substantial in this instance but nevertheless of 

considerable importance and weight. I return to this in the balancing exercise 
below. 

20. For these reasons, the proposal would fail to preserve the setting of the 
designated heritage asset. This would fail to satisfy the requirements of the 
Act, the Framework and would conflict with Policies HA1 and HA7 of the East 

Herts District Plan (the LP) and Policy 10 of the NP insofar as they seek, 
amongst other things, to ensure proposals preserve and where appropriate 

enhance the historic environment, result in no adverse effect to a listed 
building’s setting and protect the historical assets of Braughing parish. As a 
result, the proposal would not be in accordance with the development plan. 

Braughing Conservation Area 

21. Braughing is a historic village of two settlements sited on high ground on either 

side of the River Quin. A typical rural village it was once an important centre 
with a large number of historic and listed buildings with important Roman 
routes evident within the BCA, including a ford crossing at the centre of the 

village at the bottom of Green Hill. Braughing is mentioned in the Domesday 
Book with the medieval settlement focused on the medieval Church of St Mary.  

22. Case law5 has established that proposals must be judged according to their 
effect on a conservation area as a whole. The BCA has maintained a tranquil 
rural quality and contains a variety of styles and sizes of buildings, mainly two 

storeys, of a traditional construction and with some variety in the size, form, 
and appearance of associated outbuildings to the properties. I observed such 

outbuildings were a characteristic of the BCA as a whole. Notwithstanding the 
harm that would be caused to the setting of the listed building I do not find 
that the proposal would be detrimental to the character or appearance of the 

BCA, as a whole and so would preserve its significance. 

23. For these reasons, in terms of the effect on the character and appearance of 

the BCA the proposal would accord with Policy HA4 of the LP and Policy 10 of 
the NP in terms of the requirement for development in conservation areas to 
preserve or enhance the special interest and that new development should not 

‘go against the grain’ of the existing pattern of housing and preserve the 
attractive appearance of the rural community. 

Balancing exercise 

24. Given the harm I have identified to the setting of the listed building the 
Framework advises that this harm should be weighed against the public 

benefits of the proposal, which includes the securing of optimal viable use of 
listed buildings. I acknowledge that the appellant may have a pressing personal 

need but providing additional accommodation for the appellant’s family is a 
private benefit that is not sufficient to outweigh the great weight I give to the 

harm that I have identified to the designated heritage asset, in terms of its 
setting. 

Other Matters 

25. Whilst I note the appellant’s apparent frustrations as to the Council’s handling 
and determination of the applications, such matters have no bearing on the 

 
5 South Oxfordshire DC v SSE & J Donaldson [1991] CO/1440/89. 

Page 65

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/W/23/3316232 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          5 

planning merits of the proposal before me and I have considered the costs 

application above. 

Conclusion 

26. Drawing everything together, the proposal would conflict with the development 
plan, when read as a whole. Material considerations, including the Framework 
do not indicate that a decision should be made other than in accordance with 

the development plan.  

27. Having regard to all other matters raised, including the lack of objection from 

Braughing Parish Council and neighbouring occupiers, I conclude that the 
appeal should be dismissed. 

 

Richard Aston 

INSPECTOR 

 

Page 66

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

Appeal Decision  

Site visit made on 7 November 2023  
by V Simpson BSc (Hons) MSc MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 1st December 2023 

 

Appeal Ref: APP/J1915/D/23/3316333 
1 Harrison Lane, Balls Park, Hertford SG13 8FE  
• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to grant planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by Mr Richard Pascoe against the decision of East Hertfordshire 

District Council. 

• The application Ref 3/22/0356/HH, dated 15 February 2022, was refused by notice 

dated 18 November 2022. 

• The development proposed is described as first floor extension over existing ground 

floor lounge area. Modifications to ground floor external walls. 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed. 

Background and Main Issue 

2. The appeal site is within the Green Belt. Policy GBR1 of the East Herts Council 

East Herts District Plan dated October 2018 (the district plan) indicates that 
planning applications within the Green Belt, will be considered in line with the 

provisions of the National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework).  

3. Paragraph 147 of the Framework states that inappropriate development is by 
definition, harmful to the Green Belt.  Paragraph 149 then says that new 

buildings in the Green Belt should be deemed to be inappropriate. A stated 
exception to this is for the extension or alteration of a building provided it does 

not result in disproportionate additions over and above the size of the original 
building.  

4. The Council has found that the development proposals would not amount to 

inappropriate development in the Green Belt. From the evidence and my 
observations on site, I have no reason to conclude otherwise.   

5. Therefore, the main issue is the effect of the development on the character and 
appearance of the area. 

Reasons 

6. A detached dwelling is located on the appeal site. It forms one of a pair of 
dwellings which are located either side of a gated entrance to the Balls Park 

estate. Together, the pair of houses and the gated entrance form a small 
cluster of development located adjacent to London Road and framed by trees. 
Even though from the evidence and my observations on site, traffic passing the 

site along London Road is generally fast moving, the small collection of 
development remains readily visible when passing the site. 

Page 67

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/D/23/3316333

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

7. Furthermore, and although not symmetrical, there are strong similarities in the 

design detailing, scale, materials and siting of the pair of dwellings either side 
of the gates. These similarities afford the development within the cluster a 

clear and pleasant sense of balance, which positively informs the character and 
appearance of the area. 

8. The ridge height of the first-floor extension would be slightly lower than that of 

the existing dwelling. However, the building lines and main roof pitches of this 
part of the proposed extension would read as a continuation of the existing 

dwelling rather than as a subservient addition to it. 

9. In terms of the design detailing and external materials that would be used, the 
proposed development would effectively emulate features of the original house. 

Nevertheless, the first-floor extension would be substantially taller, larger, and 
more visually prominent than the flat-roofed single-storey part of the house it 

would replace.  Furthermore, and although the width of the first-floor extension 
would be approximately half the width of the existing 2-storey part of the 
house, the height and length of the ridge would be similar to that of the 

original dwelling. The proposed development would therefore significantly 
increase the scale of the house, and harmfully erode the balance of the pair of 

houses either side of the entrance gates. 

10. For the reasons given above, the development would cause harm to the 
character and appearance of the area. Consequently, it would conflict with 

policies DES4 and HOU11 of the district plan. Amongst other things, these 
policies require development to be of a high standard of design and layout to 

reflect and promote local distinctiveness, and that extensions should generally 
appear as a subservient addition to the dwelling. It would also conflict with 
chapter 12 of the Framework, which seeks to ensure that developments add to 

the overall quality of the area; are sympathetic to local character; and maintain 
a strong sense of place. 

Other Matters 

11. The evidence suggests that the appeal site forms part of the Balls Park estate. 
The estate contains the large grade I listed former country house known as 

Balls Park, as well as several other grade II listed buildings, and a grade II 
listed park and garden. In addition, Jenningsbury and the separately listed 

garden wall to the north of Jenningsbury, both of which are located to the 
southeast of the application site, are grade II listed. Albeit consulted, Historic 
England have not commented on the proposals subject of this appeal. 

12. Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
requires special regard to be given to the desirability of preserving the listed 

building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest 
which it possesses. Paragraph 199 of the Framework guides that when 

considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a 
designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s 
conservation. 

13. The significance of Balls Park, the park and garden and the other listed 
buildings within the wider estate lie, partly, in their historic fabric and collective 

group value. The estate is close to the edge of the town of Hertford. It also 
contains a range of more modern housing developments, some of which are 
located close to the listed buildings. In so far as it relates to this appeal, the 

Page 68

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/D/23/3316333

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

setting of the listed buildings on the estate is therefore informed not only by 

other nearby listed buildings, but also by the more recent housing 
developments, as well as by the nearby parkland and agricultural land.  

14. The significance of the buildings at Jenningsbury, arise in part, from their 
historic fabric, as a moated house and a redbrick wall along the line of the 
inner bank of the moat, and, from the historic uses of the property as both a 

farmhouse and a moated manor. The setting of these buildings is largely 
informed by a group of nearby houses as well as by the neighbouring large 

open fields.  

15. The proposed development would be separated from the listed buildings within 
the Balls Park estate and Jenningsbury, and from the listed park and garden, 

by large fields and intervening trees and woodland. Given the separation 
distances between the proposed development and the listed buildings, park and 

gardens, and the significant screening afforded by the trees, the setting of 
these heritage assets would be preserved. Furthermore, and for the same 
reasons, no harm would be caused to the significance of these heritage assets 

or their settings. Consequently, there would be no conflict with the Framework 
as it relates to the conservation of the historic environment. 

16. The appeal site forms part of a wider area of land subject of a tree preservation 
order. However, the Council has indicated that the development would have no 
impact on any trees on or bordering the site.  Given the distance of the trees 

from the dwelling, and, that increases in the footprint of the building would not 
project beyond areas of existing hardstanding, I have no reason to take an 

alternative view. 

17. If implemented the proposed development would facilitate the creation of an 
additional and larger 1st floor bedroom, which would bring the ground and first 

floor accommodation into better proportion to each other, and which would 
enlarge the size of the house. However, only very limited weight can be 

attributed to the private benefits resulting from the enlargement of the house. 

18. That the proposed development would not cause harm to the living conditions 
of occupiers of neighbouring properties is a neutral consideration. Furthermore, 

the absence of objections from neighbours or statutory consultees does not 
weigh in favour of the scheme. 

Conclusion 

19. The proposal conflicts with the development plan when taken as a whole, and 
there are no material considerations, either individually or in combination that 

outweigh the identified harm and development plan conflict. 

20. For the reasons given above, I conclude that this appeal should be dismissed. 

 

V Simpson  

INSPECTOR 

 

Page 69

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

 

Appeal Decisions 
Hearing Held on 17 October 2023 

Site visit made on 18 October 2023 

by R Merrett  Bsc(Hons) DipTP MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 05 December 2023 

 

Appeal A: APP/J1915/C/22/3291052 
Land at Quinbury Farm, Hay Street, Braughing, Ware, Hertfordshire  

SG11 2RE 

• The appeal is made under section 174 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as 

amended by the Planning and Compensation Act 1991. 

• The appeal is made by Mr Adam Saggers, Quinbury Farm Estate Limited, against an 

enforcement notice issued by East Hertfordshire District Council. 

• The enforcement notice was issued on 21 December 2021.  

• The breach of planning control as alleged in the notice is Without planning permission, 

the erection of 4no dwelling houses. 

• The requirements of the notice are 1 Permanently remove from the land the 4no 

dwelling houses including footings and drains; 2 Remove from the Land all the resultant 

materials following compliance with (1). 

• The period for compliance with the requirements is 6 months. 

• The appeal is made on the grounds set out in section 174(2)(a), (b), (d), (f) and (g) of 

the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended. Since an appeal has been 

brought on ground (a), an application for planning permission is deemed to have been 

made under section 177(5) of the Act.  

Summary of Decision: The appeal is allowed, the enforcement notice is quashed 

and planning permission is granted in the terms set out below in the Formal 

Decision. 
 

 

Appeal B: APP/J1915/W/23/3317491 
Quinbury Farm, Hay Street, Braughing, Ware, Hertfordshire SG11 2RE 

• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to grant planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by Mr Adam Saggers, Quinbury Farm Estate Limited, against the 

decision of East Hertfordshire District Council. 

• The application Ref 3/22/0813/FUL, dated 11 April 2022, was refused by notice dated 2 

February 2023. 

• The development proposed is “Continued erection of four dwellings to the same design 

and appearance as previously approved under ref. 3/14/1204/FP together with all 

supporting infrastructure following removal of the original barns.” 

Summary of Decision: The appeal is allowed and planning permission is granted 

subject to conditions set out below in the Formal Decision. 
 

 

Application for costs 

1. At the Hearing an application for costs was made by Mr Adam Saggers, 
Quinbury Farm Estate Limited, against East Hertfordshire District Council. This 

application is the subject of a separate Decision. 

Page 70

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decisions APP/J1915/C/22/3291052, APP/J1915/W/23/3317491 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

Preliminary Matters 

2. With regard to Appeal A, the appeal on ground (b) is that the alleged 
development has not occurred as a matter of fact.  The Council conceded, prior 

to the event, that the breach of planning control, as alleged in the notice, was 
somewhat erroneously described and therefore misleading.  This is because the 
four dwellings referred to are only in the very early stages of construction.   

3. The Council suggested the allegation could be corrected by the insertion of 
words qualifying that the breach concerned ‘works for’ the erection of 4 

dwellings, with consequential amendments to the notice requirements.  The 
appellant accepted that correcting the notice accordingly would not result in 
prejudice and I have no reason to take a contrary view.  The ground (b) appeal 

therefore succeeds to this limited extent. 

4. If, as in this case, the allegation is corrected, then the deemed planning 

application is changed accordingly and thus forms the basis for assessing the 
ground (a) appeal. Case law, as referred to by the appellant, does not 
persuade me otherwise1.  

5. The appellant confirmed in advance of the Hearing that the appeal on ground 
(g) was withdrawn.  I therefore take no further action with regard to this 

element of the appeal. 

6. With regard to Appeal B, I have taken the description of development from that 
given on the application form, which I consider adequately captures what is 

proposed. 

Background 

7. The appeal site, part of a former farmstead, which included cattle and storage 
barns, has a lengthy planning history.  In December 2005 the Council granted 
planning permission for the change of use of redundant agricultural buildings to  

four holiday cottages2. In August 2014 the Council granted planning permission 
for the change of use, alteration and extension of existing barns to form 4 no 4 

bed dwellings3.  This followed in the wake of an Inspector’s decision to dismiss 
a planning appeal for a similar development at the appeal site, albeit where the 
reasons for that decision were confined to matters of detailed design.   

8. In very brief terms, the appellant’s case is that the buildings associated with 
the 2014 permission had in the meantime suffered extensive and severe 

physical deterioration and were structurally unstable or contaminated.  
Consequently the buildings were subject to collapse and / or demolition, such 
that they were removed in their entirety.  The proposal, the subject of Appeal 

B, is to rebuild identically the approved 2014 scheme.  Indeed, the Council 
accepted within its delegated officer report that the size, scale, massing, form 

and siting of the structures would be the same as the pre-existing barns.   
Therefore the 2014 planning permission is of particular relevance to the current 

proposals and, as discussed later, a key material consideration in this decision. 

 

 

1 Tapecrown Ltd v FSS & Vale of White Horse DC [2006] EWCA Civ 1744 & Ahmed v SSCLG & Hackney LBC 

[2014] EWCA Civ 566 
2 Planning permission reference 3/05/1815/FP 
3 Planning permission reference 3/14/1204/FP 

Page 71

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decisions APP/J1915/C/22/3291052, APP/J1915/W/23/3317491 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

Appeal A on ground (d) 

9. The ground of appeal is that at the date when the notice was issued, no 
enforcement action could be taken in respect of any breach of planning control.  

S171B(1) of the Act provides that no enforcement action may be taken in 
respect of any unauthorised operational development after the end of the 
period of four years beginning with the date on which the operations were 

‘substantially completed’.   

10. The appellant’s ground (d) appeal is confined to the excavation and infilling of a 

2.5 metre long foundation, which was the subject of a building control 
completion certificate in February 2009, and the completion of drainage works, 
the subject of a building control inspection report in May 2017.  These works 

were carried out in connection with the aforementioned planning permissions.   

11. The Council confirmed that it accepts these works have become immune from 

enforcement and therefore lawful due to the passage of time.  I have no reason 
to take a contrary view, and therefore the ground (d) appeal succeeds to this 
limited extent.   

Appeal B 

Main Issues 

12. The main issues are i) the effect of the development on the character and 
appearance of the surrounding area and ii) whether the appeal site is in a 
sustainable location. 

Reasons 

Local Policy Context 

13. The following development plan policies are relevant to the main issues 
identified.  Policy DES4 of the East Hertfordshire District Plan 2018 (LP) seeks 
to achieve a high standard of design by reflecting and promoting local 

distinctiveness.  Policy GBR2 is concerned with maintaining the Rural Area 
Beyond the Green Belt as a valued countryside resource and permits certain 

types of development, provided they are compatible with the character and 
appearance of the rural area.  Clause (d) states that such development 
includes the replacement of buildings, provided the size, scale, mass, form, 

siting, design and materials of construction are appropriate to the character, 
appearance and setting of the site and/or surrounding areas. 

14. Policy INT1 of the LP aligns with the overarching National Planning Policy 
Framework (the Framework) objective of presuming in favour of sustainable 
development. Policy DPS2 sets out the development strategy for the District in 

terms of a hierarchy of preferred site locations.  With sustainability in mind this 
is focused on the larger settlements.  However Policy GBR2(e) does allow for 

the limited infilling or redevelopment of previously developed sites in 
sustainable locations. Policy TRA1 seeks to achieve accessibility improvements 

and to promote sustainable transport usage.  In addition Policy VILL1 
recognises that Group 1 category villages should accommodate at least a ten 
per cent increase in the housing stock, appropriate in scale and character 

amongst other things.  This is reflected in Policy 1 of the Braughing Parish 
Neighbourhood Plan (NP) which seeks to steer new development to previously 

Page 72

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decisions APP/J1915/C/22/3291052, APP/J1915/W/23/3317491 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          4 

developed or infill sites within the village, whilst avoiding harm to local 

character and undesirable ribbon development. 

15. The parties agreed at the Hearing that to comply with Policy GBR2(d) it was 

not necessary for a proposed replacement building to be in the same use as its 
predecessor.  They also agreed that if I found the development to be 
acceptable in relation to Policy GBR2(d), then it would be compliant with that 

policy overall and there would be no need for me to go on to consider the 
development in relation to clause (e) of the same policy. 

Character and Appearance 

16. The appeal site is situated in a valley location, in broadly undulating 
countryside.  Open fields with pockets of woodland and mature hedge lines 

predominate, with parts of small settlements evident in some longer distance 
views.  The land rises to the east and west away from the site, with the linear 

hamlet of Hay Street running along a ridge, parallel to the B1368 road, a 
relatively short distance to the west.  The village of Braughing is situated at 
greater distance to the south.  Although the site is relatively close to these 

places there is no dispute that it is in the countryside, outside settlement 
boundaries, albeit the parties agreed at the Hearing that the site is not in a 

physically isolated location. 

17. The immediate surroundings of the site are varied in appearance. Quinbury 
Farm House, essentially a large red brick building, with tall chimneys, slate 

roof, and some smaller ancillary buildings and Quinbury Farm Cottage, a two 
storey dwelling with cream painted render are to the south and north 

respectively.  On the eastern side is a large, ageing storage building associated 
with the former farmstead, with a small scale equestrian related development 
to the north-west.  The appeal site occupies the land between these various 

structures.  Despite its diverse appearance, the location has an agricultural and 
rural character, reinforced by the surrounding grassed paddocks and open land. 

18. The proposed buildings themselves are a combination of single and two storey 
structures.  Traditional materials would be utilised, with elevations constructed 
in brickwork or weatherboarding and roofs in slate or pantiles.  Each of the 

buildings would incorporate extensive floor to ceiling glazed areas, reminiscent 
of the large openings that one might associate with a former barn.  The 

buildings would be designed to emulate the scale, form, siting and appearance 
of the residential conversion scheme in relation to the buildings that previously 
occupied the site, and for which the Council previously granted planning 

permission, as referred to above. 

19. The parties agreed at the Hearing that the most important visual receptor 

locations for the development would be the byway close to the site entrance 
(from which access into the site is taken) and at greater distance a bridleway 

on higher ground to the north-east. At shorter range, near the site entrance, 
the proposed buildings would appear appropriate in scale, form and design to 
their immediate surroundings, broadly referencing the form and layout of 

development that was originally present on the site in any event.   

20. From further away to the north-east, they would, for the most part, be 

substantially screened by mature intervening planting, but where visible would 
appear nestled and assimilated next to adjacent buildings and against a rising 
landform.  Also, when viewing the site from the public footpath network to the 

Page 73

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decisions APP/J1915/C/22/3291052, APP/J1915/W/23/3317491 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          5 

south, the development would appear largely screened or filtered by existing 

buildings or vegetation. The development would not therefore draw the eye as 
an obtrusive or alien feature in the landscape.  I am satisfied that general 

residential paraphernalia could be screened by appropriate boundary 
treatment. 

21. Drawing the above considerations together I conclude that the development 

would respect local distinctiveness and would represent replacement buildings  
appropriate to the character, appearance and setting of the site and its 

surroundings, rather than urbanisation of the rural area or undesirable ribbon 
development.  Indeed, recreating and promoting understanding of the historic 
layout of the original farm buildings would, in my judgement, provide limited 

heritage benefit and improvement to existing character.  Accordingly I find that 
the development would accord with Policies DES4 and GBR2(d) of the LP, 

summarised above.  In addition, although the appeal site lies outside the 
village boundary, on the evidence before me I do not find the development to 
be in conflict with the wording of Policy VILL1 of the LP or with Policy 1 of the 

NP as referred to above. Furthermore the development would meet the high 
quality design sought by the Framework. 

22. At the Hearing the Council said that leaving the site empty and open would be 
more akin to the rural character.  I consider that leaving the site undeveloped 
and open would not necessarily be harmful to character and appearance.  

However this does not undermine the positive assessment I have made above. 
 

Sustainable Location 

23. The site is undisputed to lie outside the Braughing village boundary, as defined 
in the NP.  Whilst it has a primary (including nursery) school, a church and 

village hall and three public houses which would be accessible via a number of 
walking routes, Braughing is undisputed to have only a limited range of 

services.  It would therefore be necessary for residents at the appeal site to 
travel to larger settlements further afield, in order to access various day to day 
services and facilities such as shopping, secondary education and medical care.  

Furthermore, footpaths and bridleways are for the most part unlit, with some 
being poorly surfaced and would not necessarily present a safe or attractive 

alternative during darkness or bad weather.    

24. The site is within walking distance of bus stops on the B1368 Road from where 
bus routes provide connectivity with larger centres such as Ware, Hertford and 

Royston.  However, services are hourly, at best, and therefore relatively 
infrequent.  I acknowledge that an ‘on demand’ community bus service is 

provided by Herts Lynx.  However, even so, I have not been provided with 
evidence to persuade me that this would be sufficiently flexible and responsive 
to provide a realistic alternative to the car.  Furthermore, the Council 

expressed doubt at the Hearing as to the likely continuity of this service, and 
from the information before me I cannot be sure that it is well established and 

dependable into the future. 

25. With regard to connectivity it would be realistic to conclude that for 
convenience and distance reasons, and safety during hours of darkness, there 

would need to be significant reliance on private vehicles in order to gain access 
to everyday services and facilities.  I am not therefore persuaded that the 

appeal site could reasonably be described as being in a sustainable location.  

Page 74

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decisions APP/J1915/C/22/3291052, APP/J1915/W/23/3317491 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          6 

Accordingly I consider that residential development of the appeal site would be 

in conflict with the Council’s spatial development strategy, as encompassed 
within the hierarchy in Policy DPS2 of the LP, which seeks development to take 

place in sustainable locations. It would also conflict with Policy TRA1 of the LP 
insofar as it seeks to ensure a range of sustainable transport options, with a 
view to enabling sustainable journeys to be made to key services and facilities. 

26. However, the Framework acknowledges that opportunities to maximise 
sustainable transport solutions will vary between urban and rural areas.  In this 

context, and having regard to the availability of some services in the smaller, 
nearby centres of Puckeridge and Buntingford, also to the relatively limited 
scale of the proposed development, I consider that the length, duration and 

number of journeys necessary to access essential services and facilities, even if 
taken by car, would not in this case be excessive for a rural location.  I am also 

mindful that the parties agree to a planning condition being imposed requiring 
the installation of electric vehicle charging points at each of the dwellings, 
which would also serve to facilitate and promote, albeit not guarantee, the use 

of more sustainable transportation. These factors therefore serve to reduce the 
adverse weight that I give to this matter to a moderate level. 

27. Nevertheless, in my judgment, the development strategy and use of 
sustainable transport are key elements of the Local Plan and accordingly I find 
that the proposal would be in conflict with the development plan when read as 

a whole. 

28. I have considered the various decisions, either by the Council or at appeal, that 

were referred to me by the parties regarding sites elsewhere in the District, 
where sustainability of the location was an issue.  It would appear that sites at 
Labdens House and Gore Lane were either closer to a village centre or within a 

settlement boundary and not therefore directly comparable to the present site. 
Similarly it would appear that the site at Bockings, where residential 

development was found to be acceptable4, was close to a village containing 
facilities which included a post office and convenience store, unlike the appeal 
site.  The scale of development proposed at Whempstead Road5, Toad Hall6 and 

at Elbow Lane Farm7, when taken with other recent development on that site, 
was in each case greater than in this case.  It is also relevant that each site 

must be considered on its individual planning merits.  

Other Matters 

29. Braughing Parish Council has objected to the proposed development.  It is 

concerned that the standard of access to the site, via a bridleway, is inferior 
and would endanger driver and pedestrian safety.  I drove and walked the 

access route during my site visit.  The surface of the track is informal, uneven 
and not finished to a high standard.  It is nevertheless navigable and narrow 

grassed verges on either side would allow for the passing of vehicles and act as 
a refuge area for pedestrians.  Accordingly, I am satisfied that there would not 
be danger to highway or pedestrian safety. 

30. I have considered the argument that the grant of planning permission would 
set a precedent for other similar developments.  However, each application and 

 
4 Planning permission reference 3/22/2243/FUL. 
5 Appeal refs APP/J1915/W/22/3303408 amongst others. 
6 Appeal ref APP/J1915/W/21/3276833. 
7 Appeal ref APP/J1915/W/22/3304110. 

Page 75

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decisions APP/J1915/C/22/3291052, APP/J1915/W/23/3317491 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          7 

appeal must be determined on its own individual merits and a generalised 

concern of this nature would not in itself justify withholding planning 
permission in this case. 

 

Other Material Considerations 

 
National Planning Policy Framework 

31. It is undisputed that the Council is unable to demonstrate a five-year supply of 

deliverable housing sites.  The Council refers within its statement, as confirmed 
at the Hearing, to having a 4.41 year supply, equating to a shortfall of 760 

dwellings.   

32. Paragraph 11(d) of the Framework is therefore engaged.  This means that 
decision makers should apply a presumption in favour of sustainable 

development, such that planning permission should be granted unless any 
adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 

benefits, when assessed against the policies in the Framework taken as a 
whole.  The Framework sets out that achieving sustainable development means 
the planning system has overarching economic, social and environmental 

objectives. 

33. From an economic perspective, in broad terms the development would benefit 

the local economy during the construction period and as a result of additional 
spending by the various new occupiers.  However, these benefits would be 

tempered by the relatively small number of units involved and I therefore 
attach limited weight in this regard. 

34. The buildings would be constructed to good environmental standards, 

incorporating various energy and water saving measures.  This would be in 
keeping with Policies CC1 and CC2 of the LP which seek that developments 

allow for climate change adaptation.  However, these measures serve to help 
offset the impact of the development and accordingly are neutral in the 
planning balance.  The proposal would allow for biodiversity improvement 

through measures such as additional landscaping.  However, in light of the 
limited scale of development, I consider this factor should be granted very 

limited positive weight. 

35. In social terms, a small number of additional dwellings would be provided, 
adding to the choice of units in the context of an acknowledged significant 

shortfall of housing land supply in the District.  Recreating and promoting 
understanding of the historic layout of the original farm buildings would provide 

limited heritage benefit and improvement to the existing character of the site 
and its surroundings.  The development, incorporating features and materials 
referencing the site’s agricultural past, is well-designed.  I am also mindful that 

the appeal site is well related to the rights of way network and is in close 
proximity to open countryside and various attractive walking routes.  Access to 

such recreation opportunities would be conducive to health and well-being.  
Overall the social benefits of the development attract moderate positive weight. 

36. The appellant considers the appeal site to constitute previously developed land 

and that as such the development would accord with the Framework insomuch 
as it encourages the use of previously developed land where suitable 

opportunities exist.  However, the site was previously occupied by agricultural 
buildings, which are specifically excluded from the definition of previously 

Page 76

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decisions APP/J1915/C/22/3291052, APP/J1915/W/23/3317491 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          8 

developed land.  Whilst the appellant has referred to the previous existence of 

an office and other businesses on the site, there is no evidence that these 
became lawful primary uses there.  Whilst the driveway area serving the 

appeal site would also serve existing adjacent residential properties, I am not 
persuaded that this equates to the lawful primary use of the appeal site being 
residential.  I conclude that the appeal site does not constitute previously 

developed land and this is not therefore a factor weighing in support of the 
development. 

37. As set out previously in my decision the proposed development would not be in 
a sustainable location and would be in conflict with the development plan when 
read as a whole.  However, for the reasons given I have attached moderate 

adverse weight to this harm.  In terms of paragraph 11(d) of the Framework 
any adverse impacts of granting planning permission would not significantly 

and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against the policies in 
the Framework taken as a whole.  Accordingly, it would constitute the 
sustainable development in relation to which the Framework presumes in 

favour.  

Planning History of the site 

38. The Council confirmed at the Hearing that its decision to grant planning 
permission for the change of use of the farm buildings, that previously existed 
on the site, to residential properties was based on a supporting design and 

access statement and the findings of a structural engineer’s report8.  This 
report concluded that conversion was possible without the need to demolish or 

use significant or disproportionate reconstruction.  The report did, however, say 
that that conclusion was subject to detailed design surveys.   

39. The Council conceded that whilst it had expected the conversion scheme to be 

implemented without significant reconstruction, the plans and supporting 
information, accompanying the 2014 permission, were not specific regarding 

the exact parts of buildings which would be retained; also that changes to 
ground levels shown on a number of the approved plans would have a knock-
on effect in terms of the reconstruction of elevation walls in any event.  Neither 

did the Council dispute that it had agreed the use of new materials in relation 
to certain parts of the buildings. 

40. With the benefit of hindsight this raises the question as to what the Council 
might reasonably have expected from the conversion scheme and how any 
retained materials could genuinely have been valued.  Furthermore, I 

acknowledge the appellant’s point that the Council’s refusal reason on 
character and appearance grounds, regarding the Appeal B planning 

application, did not expressly refer to the loss of historic building materials. 

41. Indeed, it seems to me any proposition that the previous 2014 permission can 

be distinguished from the present proposals on the basis that historic parts of 
the building would have been retained, which would have been of value to the 
scheme, does not stand up easily to scrutiny, because of the ambiguity over 

the nature and quantity of materials that were to be kept.  I am also mindful 
that the Council’s original statement in relation to its enforcement case against 

 
8 Q.A. Byrom Associates, dated 22 May 2012 

Page 77

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decisions APP/J1915/C/22/3291052, APP/J1915/W/23/3317491 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          9 

four dwellings indicated the Council had no objection to the development on 

grounds which included design, layout and character and appearance9. 

42. It also seems, from the evidence before me, that notwithstanding the 

introduction of a new policy framework since the 2014 permission, and 
differences in the wording of the relevant character and appearance policies, 
this would have resulted in very little, if any, material change to how the 

effects of development on character and appearance per se were assessed.  In 
any event, reference to the officer report in 2014 indicates that the visual 

effect of the development was not considered to be harmful as, by way of my 
own assessment of the proposed development, continues to be the case now. 

43. With all of this in mind, whilst it is undisputed that demolishing the remaining 

parts of the original buildings and starting again would require a separate 
planning permission, the 2014 planning permission is nevertheless an 

important material consideration.  I have taken into account that the 
demolition of an existing building and creation of a wildflower area in its place, 
part of the 2014 proposals, no longer forms part of the current scheme.  

Notwithstanding this, I attach significant positive weight to the fact that the 
outcome of the proposed scheme would essentially replicate the scheme of 

converted buildings that gained planning permission from the Council in 2014.   

44. I have had regard to case law referred to by the Council10, in relation to which 
it distinguishes that case from the current appeal, on the basis of a proportion 

of the original building materials being retained.  This, however, for the 
reasons given, does not alter my aforementioned conclusions.  Furthermore, I 

find the Council’s stance to be somewhat at odds with its recent decision 
regarding a site elsewhere in the District11.  In that case a residential barn 
conversion scheme had been allowed on appeal.  This was cited by the Council 

as a fallback position which supported its decision to grant planning permission 
for a new build residential development in its place. 

Overall Planning Balance conclusion 

45. Therefore, despite the proposal conflicting with the development plan, material 
considerations, including having regard to the Framework and the planning 

history of the site, indicate that a decision should be taken otherwise than in 
accordance with the plan.  This approach is recognised by Policy INT1 of the LP. 

Appeal A on ground (a) 

46. As set out above the deemed planning application, as corrected, is in relation 
to works for the erection of 4 dwelling houses.  It was evident from my visit 

that the works in question were relatively limited, and included the construction 
of foundations and formation of ground floor level blockwork platforms.   

47. I have concluded from the above analysis that planning permission should be 
granted for the four dwellings.  The works subject to the deemed planning 

application would therefore inevitably become subsumed as construction work 
progresses. I am not persuaded that the development as it stands to date, 
albeit only partly finished and in relation to which the enforcement notice, as 

corrected, is targeted, results in the sustainability harm that underpinned the 

 
9 See paragraph 3.18. 
10 Vallis v SSCLG and Another 2012 EWHC 578 
11 Meesden Bury Farm – planning permission ref 3/21/2977/FUL – February 2023 

Page 78

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decisions APP/J1915/C/22/3291052, APP/J1915/W/23/3317491 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          10 

reason for serving the notice.  Nor do I consider the limited degree of 

development results in any other harm. 

48. I therefore conclude that planning permission ought to be granted. 

 
Conditions 

49. I have considered the various conditions suggested by the Council, as 

discussed at the Hearing. Conditions specifying the plans and requiring details 
of the external materials, boundary treatments, hard surfaced areas, 

landscaping and tree protection are needed to safeguard the character and 
appearance of the area.  Conditions regarding the timing of building operations, 
the management of waste materials associated with the development, dust 

control measures during construction and the control of external lighting are all 
required to ensure the living conditions of nearby residents are protected.  A 

condition requiring that the adjacent public right of way is not obstructed is 
needed so as to protect that route. 

50. Conditions removing permitted development rights for extensions and 

alterations to the dwellings, for the erection of curtilage buildings and future 
alterations to means of enclosure are required to protect the character and 

appearance of the area and the living conditions of residents.  A condition to 
ensure that the internal rooms are protected from excessive noise is required 
in order to protect the living conditions of occupiers of the dwellings. 

51. The completion of hard surfaced areas is required in the interests of safety and 
the character and appearance of the area. A condition to manage any ongoing 

risk of contamination, remediate any contamination present on the site and to 
validate remediation measures undertaken is necessary in the interests of 
environmental protection.  The specification of any gas fired boilers on the site 

and water efficiency measures are controlled for the same reason.  A condition 
requiring the installation of an electric vehicle charge point at each of the 

dwellings is required in order to promote sustainable transport and minimise air 
quality impact.  A condition requiring details of biodiversity gains is required to 
secure environmental improvements to the site. 

52. I have made some minor alterations to the wording of some of the suggested 
conditions for clarification and to ensure they meet the tests for conditions as 

specified in national planning guidance.  

53. I have decided that a suggested condition to control heat and water usage in 
the interests of reducing energy and water demand is not required as such 

sustainability details form part of the approved plans.  Details of waste and 
recycling storage and collection have been satisfactorily demonstrated as part 

of the submitted documentation and need not be the subject of further control.  
 

Conclusions 
 
Appeal A 

54. For the reasons given above I conclude that the appeal should succeed on 
ground (a). I shall grant planning permission for the development as described 

in the notice as corrected.  The appeal on ground (f) does not therefore fall to 
be considered. 

 

Page 79

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decisions APP/J1915/C/22/3291052, APP/J1915/W/23/3317491 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          11 

Appeal B 

55. For the reasons given above I conclude that the appeal should be allowed. 
 

Formal Decisions 
 
Appeal A 

56. It is directed that the enforcement notice be corrected within Section 3: by the 
insertion of the words “works for” immediately before the words “the erection 

of 4no dwelling houses”. 

57. Subject to this correction the appeal is allowed and the enforcement notice is 
quashed.  Planning permission is granted on the application deemed to have 

been made under section 177(5) of the 1990 Act as amended, for the 
development already carried out, namely works for the erection of 4no dwelling 

houses at Quinbury Farm, Hay Street, Braughing, Ware, Hertfordshire SG11 
2RE as shown on the plan attached to the notice. 

 

Appeal B 

58. The appeal is allowed and planning permission is granted for the Continued 

erection of four dwellings to the same design and appearance as previously 
approved under ref. 3/14/1204/FP together with all supporting infrastructure 
following removal of the original barns at Quinbury Farm, Hay Street, 

Braughing, Ware, Hertfordshire SG11 2RE in accordance with the terms of the 
application, Ref 3/22/0813/FUL, dated 11 April 2022, subject to the conditions 

set out in the schedule below. 
 

R Merrett     

INSPECTOR 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Page 80

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decisions APP/J1915/C/22/3291052, APP/J1915/W/23/3317491 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          12 

 

SCHEDULE OF CONDITIONS 
 

1) The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than 3 years 
from the date of this decision. 

2) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 

with the following approved plans: 

NWA-12-005-LOC_E Rev B  Location Plan; H2140 005  Sustainable 

Design Strategy; NWA-12-005-6 Rev E Proposed Site Plan; NWA-12-005-
8 Rev C Proposed Elevations Plots 1 & 2; NWA-12-005-7 Rev D Proposed 
Floor Plans Plots 1 & 2; NWA-12-005-9 Rev E Proposed Plans and 

Elevations Plot 3; NWA-12-005-10 Rev G Proposed Plans and Elevations 
Plot 4; NWA-12-005-11 Rev A Proposed Car Port Plot 3. 

3) No development shall take place until samples of all external facing 
materials have been submitted to and approved by the local planning 
authority in writing. The relevant works shall be carried out in accordance 

with the approved sample details. 

4) The Public Right of Way shall remain unobstructed by vehicles, 

machinery, materials, tools and any other aspects of the construction at 
all times during works and must not deteriorate as part of the works. 

5) The noise levels in rooms at the development hereby approved shall meet 

the amenity standards set out in BS 8233:2014 ‘Guidance on sound 
insulation and noise reduction for buildings’. Construction methods and 

materials / noise mitigation methods to achieve this shall be implemented 
prior to occupation of the development and thereafter be permanently 
retained.  

6) All waste materials and rubbish associated with demolition and / or 
construction shall be contained on site in appropriate containers which, 

when full, should be promptly removed to a licensed disposal site. 

7) Best Practicable Means shall be used in controlling dust emissions 
during all site preparation, demolition, construction and ancillary 

activities. 

8) Any external artificial lighting at the development hereby approved shall 

not exceed lux levels of vertical illumination at neighbouring premises 
that are recommended by the Institution of Lighting Professionals 
Guidance Note 9/19 ‘Domestic exterior lighting: getting it right’. Lighting 

should be minimised and glare and sky glow should be prevented by 
correctly using, locating, aiming and shielding luminaires, in accordance 

with the Guidance Note. 

9) Site preparation, demolition or construction works shall take place only 

between the hours of 8:00 – 18:00 hours on Monday to Friday, 8:00 – 
13:00 hours on Saturdays and shall not take place at any time on 
Sundays or on Bank or Public Holidays.  Vehicles arriving at and leaving 

the site must do so within these working hours. 

10) The development shall not be occupied until details of both hard and soft 

landscape works have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
local planning authority. These details shall include earthworks showing 
existing and proposed finished levels or contours; hard surfacing 

Page 81

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decisions APP/J1915/C/22/3291052, APP/J1915/W/23/3317491 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          13 

materials; planting species, sizes and densities; retained landscape 

features and an implementation programme. 

 The landscaping works shall be carried out in accordance with the 

approved details and in accordance with the agreed implementation 
programme. The completed scheme shall be managed and/or maintained 
in accordance with an approved scheme of management and/or 

maintenance. 

11) Any trees or plants which within a period of 5 years from the completion 

of the development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or 
diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of 
similar size and species. 

12) All existing trees and hedges shall be retained, unless shown on the 
approved landscaping drawings as being removed.  All trees and hedges 

on and immediately adjoining the site shall be protected from damage as 
a result of works on the site, to the satisfaction of the local planning 
authority in accordance with BS5837: 2012 Trees in relation to design, 

demolition and construction, or any subsequent relevant British Standard, 
for the duration of the works on site and until at least five years following 

contractual practical completion of the approved development. In the 
event that trees or hedging become damaged or otherwise defective 
during such period, the local planning authority shall be notified as soon 

as reasonably practicable and remedial action agreed and implemented. 
In the event that any tree or hedging dies or is removed without the prior 

consent of the local planning authority, it shall be replaced as soon as is 
reasonably practicable and, in any case, by not later than the end of the 
first available planting season, with trees of such size, species and in 

such number and positions as may be agreed with the authority. 

13) Prior to the first occupation of the respective dwellings any boundary 

walls, fences or other means of enclosure associated with the plot in 
question shall be erected in accordance with details to be previously 
agreed in writing by the local planning authority.  

14) Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any order 

revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without modification) the 
enlargement, improvement or other alteration of any dwellinghouse 
under Schedule 2, Part 1, Classes A, AA, B, C and E shall not be 

undertaken without the prior written consent of the local planning 
authority. 

15) Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any order 

revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without modification) no 
fences, gates or walls shall be erected within the curtilage of any 
dwellinghouse without the prior written consent of the local planning 

authority. 

16) Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved full 

details of net biodiversity gains shall be submitted to and agreed in 
writing by the local planning authority. The development shall then be 
implemented in accordance with those details and subsequently 

maintained as such. 

Page 82

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decisions APP/J1915/C/22/3291052, APP/J1915/W/23/3317491 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          14 

17) Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved the 

hard surfaced areas of the development, including roads, pavements, 
driveways and car parking areas shall be surfaced in accordance with 

details submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. 

18) Prior to the first occupation of the development, measures shall be 

incorporated within the development to ensure a water efficiency 
standard of 110 litres (or less) per person per day is provided.  

19) The additional monitoring and mitigation laid out in the accompanying 
document entitled ‘Remediation Strategy & Verification Plan’ produced in 
2015 by Go contaminated Land Solutions needs to be complied with in 

full. 
 

If during the works contamination is encountered which has not 
previously been identified, then the additional contamination shall be 
fully assessed in an appropriate remediation scheme which shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. 
 

A validation report detailing the proposed remediation works and quality 
assurance certificates to show that the works have been carried out in 
full accordance with the approved methodology shall be submitted prior 

to first occupation of the development. Details of any post-remedial 
sampling and analysis to demonstrate that the site has achieved the 

required clean-up criteria shall be included, together with the necessary 
documentation detailing what waste materials have been removed from 
the site. 

 

20) One electric vehicle charging point per dwelling (dwelling with dedicated 

parking) shall be provided. 

21) Any gas-fired boiler shall meet a minimum standard of less than 40 
mgNOx/kWh. 

 
 

 
END OF SCHEDULE OF CONDITIONS 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

Page 83

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decisions APP/J1915/C/22/3291052, APP/J1915/W/23/3317491 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          15 

 

 
APPEARANCES 

 
FOR THE APPELLANT: 
 

 
Paul Stinchcombe KC 

 
Jane Orsborn 
 

Salvatore Amico 
 

Adam Saggers 
 
Duncan Murdock 

 
Simon Cove 

 
Colin Wilson 

Barrister 

 
Planning Consultant 
 

Agent 
 

Appellant 
 
Chartered Surveyor 

 
Architect 

 
Structural Engineer 
 

 
FOR THE LOCAL PLANNING AUTHORITY: 

 
 
Charles Merrett                           Barrister 

 
Amit Patel                                  Principal Officer Development Management 

  
Neil Button 
 

Jon Wragg 

Strategic Sites Development Team Leader 
 

Planning Enforcement Team Leader 
 

 
Documents Submitted at the Hearing: 
 

1. Amendments to the list of suggested conditions. 

  

 
 

Page 84

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

 

Costs Decision 
Hearing Held on 17 October 2023 

Site visit made on 18 October 2023 

by R Merrett  Bsc(Hons) DipTP MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 05 December 2023 

 

Costs application in relation to: 
Appeal A: APP/J1915/C/22/3291052 
Appeal B: APP/J1915/W/23/3317491 

Land at Quinbury Farm, Hay Street, Braughing, Ware, Hertfordshire SG11 
2RE 

• The application is made under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, sections 78, 

174, 320, 322 and Schedule 6, and the Local Government Act 1972, section 250(5). 

• The application is made by Mr Adam Saggers, Quinbury Farm Estate Limited, for a full 

award of costs against East Hertfordshire District Council. 

• The Hearing was in connection with appeals against an enforcement notice alleging 

Without planning permission, the erection of 4no dwelling houses (Appeal A) and the 

refusal of planning permission for “Continued erection of four dwellings to the same 

design and appearance as previously approved under ref. 3/14/1204/FP together with 

all supporting infrastructure following removal of the original barns.” (Appeal B). 
 

 

Decision 

1. The application for a full award of costs is refused.  However, a partial award of 

costs against East Hertfordshire District Council is approved in the terms set 
out below in the Costs Order. 

Reasons 

2. Paragraph 030 of the Government’s Planning Practice Guidance (PPG)1 advises 

that costs may be awarded where a party has behaved unreasonably, and the 
unreasonable behaviour has directly caused another party to incur unnecessary 
or wasted expense in the appeal process. 

Substantive Matters 

3. Paragraph 049 of the PPG2 advises that Local Planning Authorities are at risk of 

an award of costs if they behave unreasonably with respect to the substance of 
the matter under appeal.  I set out below my findings with regard to the 
various examples of unreasonable behaviour, as claimed by the appellant in 

this case. 

 

 

 
1 Reference ID: 16-030-20140306 
2 Reference ID: 16-049-20140306 

Page 85

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Costs Decision APP/J1915/C/22/3291052, APP/J1915/W/23/3317491 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

i) Not determining similar cases in a consistent manner 

4. The Council set out in its enforcement statement that it did not object to the 
development on grounds including relating to design, layout, character and 

appearance3.  By that time the former agricultural buildings had been 
demolished and as such the Council must have been contemplating a new-build 
development.  This stance is at odds with refusing planning permission for four 

new build dwellings on grounds which included character and appearance.  The 
Council explains that this anomaly needs to be viewed in the context of its 

suggested amendment to the alleged breach of planning control to “works for 
the erection of 4no dwelling houses”.  However, whilst I acknowledge the 
notice was corrected accordingly, I am in no doubt that that the Council’s 

enforcement statement is directed against 4 dwellings, rather than just their 
preliminary works4. I find that the Council’s inconsistent approach in this regard 

amounted to unreasonable behaviour.  

5. There are further inconsistencies in the Council’s position regarding character 
and appearance matters.  Whilst its enforcement statement refers to the 

development going beyond limited infill5, the planning officer report states that 
it does not constitute an infill scheme.  The officer report also refers to the site 

being in an isolated rural area, whereas at the Hearing the Council conceded 
that it was not an isolated location. 

6. Drawing these considerations together I find the Council’s position with regard 

to character and appearance to be somewhat confused and ambivalent.  It has 
not articulated its opposition to the scheme on character and appearance 

grounds consistently. 

7. However, for the avoidance of doubt, I consider that the Council’s decision not 
to grant planning permission for an identical design to that approved in 2014 

did not in itself amount to an inconsistent approach.  Whilst I found this to be a 
significant material consideration, ultimately the baseline for the schemes were 

distinguishable, with the former a conversion scheme and the latter a new 
build. 

ii) Acting contrary to, or not following, well-established case law. 

8. The appellant relies on the Vallis case to support their claim that the Council 
failed to factor into its conclusions, on whether enforcement action should be 

taken and planning permission granted, the previous 2014 grant of planning 
permission to convert farm buildings on the site. 

9. I have set out in my main decision that this was an important material 

consideration.  I concur with the appellant that Vallis is authority for weighting 
similarities between a proposed new build scheme and barn conversion which 

had earlier been permitted.  However, the Council’s officer report regarding the 
planning application did acknowledge the existence of the case law, that it was 

a material consideration, but that the present case was distinguished by the 
lack of materials that could be re-used, variation to the site boundary and 
change to the policy framework.   

 
3 See paragraphs 3.17 and 3.18.  Reference to the need for updated or new information appears to be specifically 
directed to matters of climate change and sustainable design, flood risk and ecology. 
4 See for example para. 3.2 which states that “… the appellant considers that planning permission should be 
granted for the erection of 4no dwelling houses” and “It is the Council’s view that the erection 4no dwellinghouses  
would not comply with the District Plan”. 
5 See paras 3.7 and 11.1. 

Page 86

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Costs Decision APP/J1915/C/22/3291052, APP/J1915/W/23/3317491 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

10. Whilst the lack of original material was not explicitly cited in the eventual 

refusal reason, reference later in the officer report to the site not containing 
any remnants of the barn structure suggests that this factor was at least in the 

minds of officers.  It also seems to me that the significance of the Vallis case 
not being covered in the Council’s decision making leading up to enforcement 
action can reasonably be explained by the development being in its early 

stages at that point.  Whilst I did not reach the same judgment, that the 
Council found the previous grant of planning permission not to be 

determinative, did not equate to unreasonable behaviour. 

iii) Persisting in objections to a scheme or elements of a scheme which the        
Secretary of State or an Inspector has previously indicated to be 

acceptable. 

11. Notwithstanding the resistance in the earlier plan to new build residential 

development in the countryside, when comparing the wording of the character 
and appearance related policies in the 2007 and 2018 development plans, I 
find that in practice there is very little, if any, material difference between 

requirements “not to detract significantly from”6 and to be “compatible with” or 
“appropriate to”7 and “to demonstrate compatibility with”8 and “respecting or 

improving”9.   

12. However, whilst it was a significant material planning consideration, the earlier 
scheme can be distinguished as it concerned conversion rather than new-build.  

The previous Inspector’s decision had indicated the conversion scheme, not a 
new-build scheme as presently proposed, was acceptable in principle.   

13. I am not persuaded that the Council was duty bound to grant planning 
permission in this case, on the basis of the previous grant of planning 
permission in 2014.  It is simply not the case, as a matter of fact, that the 

Council are opposing a scheme that an Inspector had indicated to be 
acceptable. It would have been possible to conclude differently in relation to 

the two schemes without offending this principle.  I am not persuaded that the 
Council have been inconsistent in this specific regard. 

iv) Preventing or delaying development which should clearly be permitted, 

having regard to its accordance with the development plan, national 
policy and any other material considerations. 

14. Whilst I found the development to be satisfactory when taking into account 
other material considerations, I nevertheless found it to be in conflict with the 
development plan as a whole.  It required the various factors in support of and 

against the scheme to be weighted, and the application of the so-called tilted 
balance, set out at paragraph 11d) of the National Planning Policy Framework 

and subsequently the statutory planning balance as set out at section 38(6) of 
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.  As such the claim that 

development was prevented which should clearly [my emphasis] have been 
permitted is simply not compelling. 

 
6 Policy GBC9 - 2007 
7 Policy GBR2 - 2018 
8 Policy ENV1 - 2007 
9 Policy DES4 - 2018 

Page 87

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Costs Decision APP/J1915/C/22/3291052, APP/J1915/W/23/3317491 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          4 

v) Failure to produce evidence to substantiate each reason for refusal on 

appeal; making vague, generalised or inaccurate assertions about a 
proposal’s impact, which are unsupported by any objective analysis. 

15. The appellant says the Council failed to substantiate its reason for refusing 
planning permission on character and appearance grounds. I did not concur 
with the Council that there was character and appearance harm.  However, it 

seems to me that ultimately this was a matter of judgment and, 
notwithstanding the concerns I have already expressed above regarding 

consistency, that it did within the body of the Appeal B defence explain its 
reservations in this respect regarding new-build development on the site10. 

Procedural Matters 

16. Paragraph 047 of the PPG11 advises that Local Planning Authorities are at risk 
of an award of costs if they behave unreasonably in relation to procedural 

matters at appeal.  I set out below my findings with regard to the examples of 
unreasonable behaviour, as claimed by the appellant in this case. 

vi) lack of co-operation with the other party or parties 

17. The appellant alleges that the Council has failed to be cooperative and has 
unreasonably delayed matters.  I have had regard to the timeline of 

correspondence with the Council, submitted by the appellant in support of the 
planning appeal.  I agree that the planning application process, which took 
almost ten months to complete, was somewhat protracted.   

18. However, I am mindful that the appellant had the right to appeal against the 
Council’s failure to determine the application, however did not do so.  In 

addition, it is not at all certain that further meetings with the Council would 
have resulted in a different outcome.  I am not therefore persuaded from the 
information before me that there is evidence to substantiate a claim that any 

lack of co-operation in this case has resulted in wasted expense. 

vii) introducing fresh and substantial evidence at a late stage necessitating 

an adjournment, or extra expense for preparatory work that would not 
otherwise have arisen. 

19. I found that the Council introduced a reason to refuse the development on 

character and appearance grounds, which was at odds with its stance on the 
enforcement case.   However, despite the inconsistent approach, the character 

and appearance reason formed part of the Council’s formal decision on the 
planning application and was known to the appellant prior to the appeal being 
lodged.  This did not give rise to any adjournment in the appeal proceedings 

and the appellant has had the opportunity to argue their case fully against the 
grounds on which planning permission was refused. 

Conclusion 

20. I therefore find that unreasonable behaviour resulting in unnecessary expense, 

as described in the PPG, has been demonstrated having regard to not 
determining similar cases in a consistent manner (in relation to ground i) above 

 
10 The Council, for example, referred to the residential characteristics and inward facing nature of the development 
that would not address the street. 
11 Reference ID: 16-047-20140306 

Page 88

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Costs Decision APP/J1915/C/22/3291052, APP/J1915/W/23/3317491 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          5 

and as defined in the Costs Order).  A partial award of costs is therefore 

justified on this basis. 

21. However, for the above reasons, I find that unreasonable behaviour resulting in 

unnecessary or wasted expense, as described in the PPG, has not been 
demonstrated in relation to the other claimed grounds. 

Costs Order  

22. In exercise of the powers under section 250(5) of the Local Government Act 
1972 and Schedule 6 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended, 

and all other enabling powers in that behalf, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that East 
Hertfordshire District Council shall pay to Mr Adam Saggers, Quinbury Farm 
Estate Limited, the costs of the appeal proceedings, limited to those costs 

incurred in respect of identifying inconsistency between the Council’s 
enforcement and planning cases regarding character and appearance 

matters; such costs to be assessed in the Senior Courts Costs Office if not 
agreed. The proceedings concerned an appeal more particularly described in 
the heading of this decision. 

23. The applicant is now invited to submit to East Hertfordshire District Council, to 
whom a copy of this decision has been sent, details of those costs with a view 

to reaching agreement as to the amount. 

 

R Merrett     

INSPECTOR 

 

Page 89

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

Appeal Decision  

Site visit made on 14 November 2023  
by D Wilson BSc (Hons) MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 15 December 2023 

 

Appeal Ref: APP/J1915/W/23/3318301 
Brookfield Farm Car Park, Aston End Road, Stevenage SG2 7EY  
• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to grant approval required under Schedule 2, Part 16, Class A of the 

Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as 

amended). 

• The appeal is made by MBNL on behalf of MBNL, EE Ltd & H3G (UK) Ltd against the 

decision of East Hertfordshire District Council. 

• The application Ref 3/22/1547/TEL, dated 19 July 2022, was refused by notice dated 13 

September 2022. 

• The development proposed is the installation of a 20m lattice tower, 6 no. antennas, 4 

no. 600mm transmission dishes, 4 no. equipment cabinets and development ancillary 

thereto inside a 1.8m high palisade fence compound. 

Decision 

1. The appeal is allowed and approval is granted under the provisions of Article 

3(1) and Schedule 2, Part 16, Class A of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended) (the 

GPDO) for the siting and appearance of 20m lattice tower, 6 no. antennas, 4 
no. 600mm transmission dishes, 4 no. equipment cabinets and development 
ancillary thereto inside a 1.8m high palisade fence compound at Brookfield 

Farm Car Park, Aston End Road, Stevenage SG2 7EY in accordance with the 
terms of the application Ref 3/22/1547/TEL, dated 19 July 2022, and the plans 

submitted with it including: 1624188_EHE110_79936_SG0648_M010 002 Site 
Location Plan Issue E, 1624188_EHE110_79936_SG0648_M010 215 Max 
Configuration Site Plan Issue E and 1624188_EHE110_79936_SG0648_M010 

265 Proposed Max Configuration Site Elevation Issue E. 

Preliminary Matters 

2. During the course of the appeal scheme the appellant has submitted a large 
number of amended plans and two updated International Commission on Non-
Ionising Radiation Protection (ICNIRP) certificates.  

3. On submission of the appeal the appellant submitted a first set of amended 
plans1 which proposed an alternative scheme whereby the location of the 

lattice tower was altered, and the equipment cabinets moved and altered in 
size. The first updated ICNIRP was submitted to address the Council’s second 
reason for refusal. However, this still contained the incorrect road name. 

 
1 1624188_EHE110_79936_SG0648_M009 002 Site Location Plan Issue D5 
1624188_EHE110_79936_SG0648_M009 100 Existing Site Plan Issue D5 
1624188_EHE110_79936_SG0648_M009 150 Existing Site Elevation Issue D5 
1624188_EHE110_79936_SG0648_M009 215 Max Configuration Site Plan Issue D5 
1624188_EHE110_79936_SG0648_M009 265 Proposed Max Configuration Site Elevation Issue D5 

Page 90

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/W/23/3318301

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

4. The appellant has clarified at the final comments stage that the first set of 

amended plans were submitted incorrectly, and no changes are proposed to 
the scheme originally considered by the Council. As such, a second set of 

amended plans2 were provided at this stage which seek to provide clarification 
and confirm that the plans originally considered by the Council were correct. A 
selection of photomontages3 have also been submitted. However, no changes 

to the scheme are proposed through these amended plans and photomontages. 
Accordingly, no one would be prejudiced were my decision to have had regard 

to these amended plans and photomontages. I have therefore done so.  

5. The second updated ICNIRP certificate has clarified the address of the site and 
confirms that the proposal has been designed to comply with the guidelines 

published by the ICNIRP. In these circumstances, the Framework advises that 
health safeguards are not something which a decision-maker should determine. 

No sufficiently authoritative evidence has been provided to indicate that the 
ICNIRP guidelines would not be complied with or that a departure from national 
policy would be justified.  

6. The principle of development is not subject to consideration in a prior approval 
application as this is established by virtue of the GPDO. As a consequence, the 

matter referred to by the Council within their officer report, of whether or not 
the proposal represents inappropriate development in the Green Belt does not 
arise. I have therefore not had regard to these matters in defining the main 

issues of this appeal. 

7. The provisions of the GPDO, under Article 3(1) and Schedule 2, Part 16, Class 

A, Paragraph A.3(4) require the local planning authority to assess the proposed 
development solely on the basis of its siting and appearance, taking into 
account any representations received. My determination of this appeal has 

been made on the same basis. 

8. The provisions of Schedule 2, Part 16, Class A of the GPDO 2015 do not require 

regard be had to the development plan. I have had regard to the policies of the 
development plan and the National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) 
only in so far as they are a material consideration relevant to matters of siting 

and appearance. 

Main Issue 

9. The main issue is the effect of the siting and appearance of the proposal on the 
character and appearance of the area. 

Reasons 

10. The appeal site is a car parking area associated with Brookfield Farm opposite, 
which contains a butchery and village store. The appeal site is raised and is 

accessed from Aston End Lane which is a narrow single-track lane lined with 
extensive hedgerows. The surrounding area consists of rolling fields bounded 

 
2 1624188_EHE110_79936_SG0648_M010 002 Site Location Plan Issue E 
1624188_EHE110_79936_SG0648_M010 100 Existing Site Plan Issue E 
1624188_EHE110_79936_SG0648_M010 150 Existing Site Elevation Issue E 
1624188_EHE110_79936_SG0648_M010 215 Max Configuration Site Plan Issue E  
1624188_EHE110_79936_SG0648_M010 265 Proposed Max Configuration Site Elevation Issue E 
3 Photomontage Viewpoint VP1: Existing View; Wireframe View; Proposed View 
Photomontage Viewpoint VP2: Existing View; Wireframe View; Proposed View 

Photomontage Viewpoint VP3: Existing View; Wireframe View; Proposed View 

Page 91

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/W/23/3318301

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

by trees and hedgerows. As such, the area has a distinctive rural and open 

character and appearance. 

11. There is a water tower next to the car parking area which is a large feature but 

due to its functional design, sits unassumingly within the landscape. The 
proposal would be taller than the water tower, but it would be much narrower 
and not be as bulky, due to its lattice design. As such, while long distance 

views would be possible due to its elevated position, the proposal would sit well 
in the landscape as a functional structure, like the water tower, that would not 

be unusual in its setting. It would therefore not result in an unduly prominent 
or conspicuous feature. 

12. The proposal includes equipment cabinets and palisade fencing which will 

surround the base of the mast. However, due to the elevated site and 
extensive screening from hedgerows and trees, very little would be visible from 

the adjacent road. Furthermore, as the proposal is not located immediately 
next to the water tower, a general sense of openness would remain, it would 
therefore not result in a cluttered appearance. 

13. In reaching my view I have had regard to the photomontages provided by the 
appellant which show that from wide and distant views that the proposal would 

not be a dominant feature on the landscape. 

14. I therefore conclude that the siting and appearance of the proposal would be 
acceptable.  

Other Matters 

15. I have had regard to the appeal decisions4 provided by the Council. However, 

these sites are located within more urban areas which differs from the appeal 
site. 

16. Furthermore, with respect of these appeal decisions and comments from 

interested parties, the Framework seeks to minimise the number of such sites 
and encourages the use of existing masts and buildings for new equipment. 

However, in this case there is evidence that sequential approach has been 
undertaken and such options have been explored and discounted for specified 
reasons.  

17. Also, as I have identified that the siting and appearance of the proposed 
development would be acceptable, it is unnecessary for me to consider the 

detailed merits of any potential alternative site or the possibility of erecting 
antennas on an existing building, mast or other structures. 

18. Notwithstanding this, I note the appellant’s reasoning within their sequential 

approach for discounting other sites and that they consider the lower height is 
a limiting factor in continuing to use the water tower. The Council have not 

raised any evidence to suggest that this is not the case and I have no reasons 
to disagree with the appellant’s findings. 

19. Consequently, the proposal, which would support the expansion of high-quality 
electronic communications networks, would accord with the Framework in 
respect of new telecommunications sites. This is notwithstanding that there are 

already masts nearby. 

 
4 APP/J1915/W/22/3312678, APP/J1915/W/22/3307861 and APP/J1915/W/22/3307717 

Page 92

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/W/23/3318301

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          4 

20. I have had regard to the appeal decision5 for the conversion of the water tower 

and I share the view of the Inspector that the water tower has a functional 
appearance. I also consider that the proposed lattice would have a similarly 

functional appearance which would not be unusual in a rural location. I note 
that the Council consider that replacement equipment on the water tower 
would have less of an impact and that the appellant has not demonstrated that 

it is not possible to continue using the antennas on the water tower. However, 
while this is not a specific consideration before me, the Council have not 

advanced any evidence to suggest that the coverage could be achieved at the 
reduced height of the water tower. 

21. I note that interested parties have raised concern over the appearance of the 

proposal and suggest camouflaging or changing its colour. The appellant has 
not proposed this, and it is therefore not before me to consider and in any 

case, I have found the functional appearance to be acceptable. 

22. Concern has been raised by interested parties that the proposal would be 
located within 3km of Bennington airfield. However, the Schedule 2, Part 16, 

Class A of the GPDO only requires the developer to notify, and the Council to 
consult the Civil Aviation Authority, Secretary of State for Defence or the 

operator of the civil safeguarding area if the proposal would be located within a 
civil safeguarding area or a defence safeguarding area. Whilst within 3km of 
the airfield, I have been provided with no evidence to suggest that the appeal 

site is within a civil safeguarding area or a defence safeguarding area and I 
have therefore not sought to explore this matter further. 

Conditions 

23. The GPDO does not provide any specific authority for imposing additional 
conditions beyond the deemed conditions for development by electronic 

communications code operators contained within it. These specify that the 
development must be carried out in accordance with the details submitted with 

the application, begin within 5 years of the date of the approval and be 
removed as soon as reasonably practicable after it is no longer required for 
electronic communications purposes and the land restored to its condition 

before the development took place. 

Conclusion 

24. For the reasons given above, I conclude that the appeal should be allowed and 
prior approval should be granted. 

 

D Wilson 

INSPECTOR 

 
 

 
5 APP/J1915/W/22/3302528 

Page 93

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

Appeal Decision  

Site visit made on 21 November 2023  
by A James BSc (Hons) MA MSc MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 11th December 2023 

 

Appeal Ref: APP/J1915/D/23/3324542 
12 Highfield Farm, Mangrove Lane, Brickendon, Hertfordshire SG13 8QJ  
• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to grant planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by Mr Michael Kirby against the decision of East Hertfordshire 

District Council. 

• The application Ref 3/23/0349/HH, dated 23 February 2023, was refused by notice 

dated 20 April 2023. 

• The development proposed is single storey rear extension. 

 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed. 

Main Issues 

2. The main issues are: 

• whether the proposed development would be inappropriate development 
in the Green Belt having regard to the National Planning Policy 

Framework (the Framework) and any relevant development plan 
policies;  

• the effect of the proposed development on the openness of the Green 

Belt; and,  

• if the proposal is inappropriate development, would the harm by reason 

of inappropriateness, and any other harm, be clearly outweighed by 
other considerations as to amount to the very special circumstances 
required to justify the development.  

Reasons 

Inappropriate development 

3. The appeal site lies within the Green Belt and consists of a modest, end of 
terrace bungalow, which has a small rear garden. The original building was 
previously a stable, which has been split into four dwellings. The appeal 

property has two rear, single storey projections, which the appellant advises 
were constructed prior to the building being first occupied as a dwelling.  

4. The fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to prevent urban sprawl by 
keeping land permanently open. Inappropriate development is, by definition, 
harmful to the Green Belt and should not be approved except in very special 

circumstances. Substantial weight should be given to any harm, and very 
special circumstances will not exist unless the potential harm to the Green Belt 

Page 94

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/D/23/3324542

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

by reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm resulting from the 

proposal, is clearly outweighed by other considerations. 

5. Policy GBR1 of the East Herts District Plan (the District Plan) October 2018, 

requires that planning applications within the Green Belt are considered in line 
with the provisions of the Framework. Within the Framework, the construction 
of new buildings is deemed to be inappropriate development within the Green 

Belt. However, there are a number of exceptions to this, including paragraph 
149 c) of the Framework, which relates to the extension or alteration of a 

building provided that it does not result in disproportionate additions over and 
above the size of the original building.  

6. Annex 2 of the Framework defines the original building as a building as it 

existed on 1 July 1948 or, if constructed after 1 July 1948, as it was built 
originally. The Council advises that the original floorspace of this part of the 

building was 35 sqm. The building has been extended to the rear, which 
provides a further 35 sqm of floorspace. The proposal seeks to provide a single 
storey rear extension, which would infill a gap between the existing rear 

projections and neighbour’s rear projection. The proposed extension would 
create an additional 11.6 sqm of floorspace.  

7. There is no definition of what constitutes a disproportionate addition within 
local or national planning policy. I appreciate that the proposed extension 
would be modest in size. However, in combination with the existing additions, 

the proposal would result in a significant increase in volume and 133% increase 
in floorspace when compared to the size of the original building, which would 

be disproportionate.  

8. For the reasons given above, I conclude that the proposal would result in a 
disproportionate addition over and above the size of the original building. As a 

result, the proposal would be inappropriate development in the Green Belt. The 
proposal would conflict with Policy GBR1 of the District Plan, which requires 

that planning applications within the Green Belt are considered in line with the 
provisions of the Framework. The proposal would also conflict with paragraph 
149 c) of the Framework, which requires that extensions to buildings within the 

Green Belt do not result in disproportionate additions over and above the size 
of the original building.  

9. While the Delegated Officer Report concludes that there would be conflict with 
Policy DES4 of the District Plan, this policy is not referenced in the reason for 
refusal. Policy DES4 is a general design policy, which among other things 

covers character and appearance and living conditions. There is no evidence 
before me to suggest that the Council has any concerns relating to the design 

of the proposed extension or its effect on the character and appearance of the 
area or the living conditions of neighbouring properties. Consequently, I do not 

find any conflict with this policy.  

Openness 

10. Openness is an essential characteristic of the Green Belt that has spatial as well 

as visual aspects. The proposed extension results in additional volume and 
massing on site, which would cause a spatial loss of openness to the Green 

Belt, albeit this would be limited given the size of the extension.  

Page 95

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/D/23/3324542

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

11. The proposal would be single storey in height. Its ridge would be lower than 

the principal part of the building and the existing rear projections. The proposal 
would not extend as far rearwards as the projections either side and would 

partly infill a gap between the host property and neighbouring property’s rear 
projection. Consequently, the proposal would not be visible from the front 
elevation or from either side of the property. There would be limited views of 

the extension from the rear above the boundary treatment. Given the infill 
nature of the proposal and its modest size, I do not find that it would result in a 

visual loss of openness to the Green Belt.  

12. For the reasons given above, I conclude that the proposal would result in a 
small loss of spatial openness to the Green Belt and would therefore conflict 

with the Framework, which seeks to keep land permanently open.  

Other considerations 

13. The appellant has drawn my attention to the preamble to Policy HOU11 of the 
District Plan, which states that extensions in the Green Belt should not result in 
disproportionate additions over and above the size of the original dwelling. As 

this wording does not form part of a policy, I give it limited weight in my 
decision. I give great weight to Policy GBR1 of the District Plan, which requires 

that development in the Green Belt is considered in line with the provisions of 
the Framework, which refers to the original building, rather than the original 
dwelling.  

14. My attention has been drawn to an extension at 14 Highfield Farm (No 14). The 
appellant argues that the development at No 14 results in a similar sized 

building to that sought in this appeal and was not found to be disproportionate 
by the Council. I appreciate that the Council has dealt with the two applications 
differently and I afford this other consideration moderate weight in favour of 

the proposal.  

15. The appellant has drawn my attention to other appeal decisions. In the 

Crabtree Cottage appeal, the Inspector concluded that the historic evidence 
indicated that the building was larger on 1 July 1948 than asserted by the 
Council. This led the Inspector to reach a contrary conclusion to the Council. 

The Old Quarry House appeal resulted in a far smaller percentage increase 
when compared to the original building than the appeal scheme before me. 

Nevertheless, the other schemes fall within a different local authority area and 
as a result the local policy context is materially different and not comparable. 
In any event, I am required to determine the appeal on its own merits.  

16. I note that the Parish Council raise no objection to the scheme if the footprint 
is the same as that included at No. 14. However, this does not alter my 

findings set out above.  

Green Belt Balance  

17. The proposed development would be inappropriate development in the Green 
Belt, which is by definition harmful to the Green Belt. Furthermore, there would 
be harm caused by the small loss of openness to the Green Belt from the 

proposed development. Paragraph 148 of the Framework is clear that 
substantial weight should be given to any harm to the Green Belt. Overall, I 

afford the other considerations advanced in this case moderate weight in 
favour of the development. Accordingly, very special circumstances do not exist 

Page 96

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/J1915/D/23/3324542

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          4 

that clearly outweigh the harm to the Green Belt, by reason of 

inappropriateness and harm to openness.  

Conclusion 

18. For the reasons given above, the proposal would conflict with the development 
plan as a whole and there are no other material considerations, including the 
Framework, that would outweigh that conflict. Therefore, I conclude that the 

appeal should be dismissed. 

A James  

INSPECTOR 

 
 

Page 97

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Public Inquiry and Hearing Dates

All Hertford Council Chamber unless specified

Application Case 

Officer

Address Proposal Appeal 

Status

Procedure 

Type

Appeal Date

3/22/2635/FUL Maya 

Cullen

 The Piggeries Benington 

   RoadWalkern SG2 7HX

Erection of a rural worker's dwelling to replace existing mobile home. LODGED Hearing 21/02/2024

P
age 98



DEVELOPMENT CONTROL

Major, Minor and Other Planning Applications

Cumulative Performance

( calculated from April 2023 )

A
p
r-

2
3

M
a
y
-2

3

J
u
n
-2

3

J
u
l-
2
3

A
u
g
-2

3

S
e
p
-2

3

O
c
t-

2
3

N
o
v
-2

3

D
e
c
-2

3

J
a
n
-2

4

F
e
b
-2

4

M
a
r-

2
4

Total Applications 

Received 160 340 519 689 839 983 1165 1335 1499

Percentage achieved 

against Local and 

National Targets A
p
r-

2
3

M
a
y
-2

3

J
u
n
-2

3

J
u
l-
2
3

A
u
g
-2

3

S
e
p
-2

3

O
c
t-

2
3

N
o
v
-2

3

D
e
c
-2

3

J
a
n
-2

4

F
e
b
-2

4

M
a
r-

2
4

National 

Designation 

Targets (set 

by 

Government)

Major % 100% 80% 67% 78% 75% 70% 73% 75% 73% Major % 60%

Minor and Other % 84% 83% 85% 86% 85% 84% 84% 87% 85% Minor % 70%

A
p
r-

2
3

M
a
y
-2

3

J
u
n
-2

3

J
u
l-
2
3

A
u
g
-2

3

S
e
p
-2

3

O
c
t-

2
3

N
o
v
-2

3

D
e
c
-2

3

J
a
n
-2

4

F
e
b
-2

4

M
a
r-

2
4

Total number of 

appeal decisions 

(Monthly) 10 6 5 10 12 10 6 9 5

Number Allowed 

against our refusal 

(Monthly) 5 2 1 3 4 3 2 6 2

Total number of 

appeal decisions 

(Cumulative) 10 16 21 31 43 53 59 68 73

Number Allowed 

against our refusal 

(Cumulative) 5 7 8 11 15 18 20 26 28

A
G

E
N

D
A

 IT
E

M
 N

o
.  6

D

P
age 99


	Agenda
	4 Minutes - 10 January 2024
	5 Planning Applications for Consideration by the Committee
	5a 3/19/1237/FUL- Residential development for 50 dwellings comprising of one to four bedroom dwellings, including affordable homes, surface water balancing facility, access roads and footpaths and associated landscaping at Land between Hazel End Road and Farnham Road, North of (and Accessed From) Morbury Avenue, Bishop's Stortford, Hertfordshire, CM23 1JJ
	Enc. 1 for 3/19/1237/FUL- Residential development for 50 dwellings comprising of one to four bedroom dwellings, including affordable homes, surface water balancing facility, access roads and footpaths and associated landscaping.
	Sheets and Views
	002 Hazel End Park Phase E Location Plan-C00208_002



	6 Items for Reporting and Noting
	Appeals Decided - Dec 2023.pdf
	Appeals Decided - Dec Copies 2023.pdf
	3316232 FINAL DECISION.pdf (p.1-5)
	3316333 Appeal Decision.pdf (p.6-8)
	Appeal Decision 3291052 and  3317491 .pdf (p.9-23)
	Appeal Decision Costs 3291052 and  3317491 .pdf (p.24-28)
	Appeal Decision 3318301.pdf (p.29-32)
	3324542 Appeal Decision.pdf (p.33-36)

	Appeal Hearing Dates 2023-24 (Dec).pdf
	Cumulative Figures December 2023


